DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE

I ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

ARCLP — Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence (the “Company”) is an
operator of a senior living community (the “Community”’) in Charlotte, North Carolina and is
wholly owned by BKD FM Holding Company, LLC (the “Member”), which through American
Retirement Corporation, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Brookdale Senior Living, Inc.
(“Brookdale”). Brookdale is publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“BKD”. All of the aforementioned entities are for profit.

ARCLP-Charlotte, LLC

d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
5800 Old Providence Road

Charlotte, NC 28226

Attn.: Mr. Doug Rutter — Executive Director

American Retirement Corporation and Brookdale Senior Living Inc.
111 Westwood Place - Suite 400

Brentwood, TN 37027

Attn: Ms. Dawn Kussow — EVP and Chief Financial Officer

IL. FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION
A. Narrative description of the facility and its operation.

The Company is an owner and operator of a senior living community (the “Community’) located
on a 45-acre site at 5800 Old Providence Road in Charlotte, North Carolina and consisting of ten
apartment buildings (one, two, and three story) and seven four-plex villas with two large lakes in
the center of the Community. The Company is committed to providing senior living solutions
and an exceptional living experience through a property that is designed, purpose-built, and
operated to provide the highest quality service, care, and living accommodations for residents.
The Community offers a variety of living arrangements and services to accommodate all levels of
physical ability and health. The Community has 275 independent living units, 56 assisted living
units, 34 memory care units, and 42 skilled nursing beds on one campus. The Community also
has common spaces including a lobby, dining room, auditorium, game rooms, craft room, country
store/snack bar, beauty/barber shop, clinic, and offices.

As a continuing care retirement community (“CCRC”) licensed by the North Carolina
Department of Insurance, the Company offers a 13 month Residence Agreement, renewable
for successive periods of 13 months. The Community began operation in July 1988, and ARC
has managed the Community since its opening. ARC assumed ownership and responsibility
for the operation in May 1996. In December 2001, the Company sold the majority of the
Community property and equipment to CALF and contemporaneously entered into a long-
term operating lease with a 15-year term. In April 2007, the Company purchased the property
and equipment from CALF and terminated the associated lease.

B. Non-profit/For Profit Status.
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ARCLP-Charlotte, LLC, d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, is a for-profit limited
liability corporation, and is not affiliated with any religious, charitable, or other non-profit
organization.

. Legal description.

See Section I above for ownership description.

. Identification and background of management staff and management company.

ARCLP-Charlotte, LLC has employed Doug Rutter as the Executive Director for Brookdale
Carriage Club Providence.

Doug Rutter became the Executive Director for Brookdale Carriage Club Providence in July
2022. Doug has held multiple leadership positions within the senior living industry for over
sixteen years.

. Directors of Brookdale Senior Living Inc.
(Address: 111 Westwood Place, Suite 400, Brentwood, TN 37027)

Guy P. Sansone joined Brookdale’s Board in October 2019 and became Non-Executive
Chairman of the Board in January 2020. For more than 25 years, he has led efforts to optimize
the performance of healthcare and senior housing companies. Mr. Sansone has served as
Chairman and CEO of H2 Health, a leading regional provider of physical rehabilitation
services and clinician staffing solutions, since February 2020. Prior to that, he served as a
Managing Director of Alvarez & Marsal, a global professional services firm specializing in
performance improvement for large, high profile businesses, where he served as Chairman of
the firm’s Healthcare Industry Group, which he founded in 2004. Mr. Sansone also served as
interim Chief Executive Officer of the Visiting Nurse Service of New York, the largest non-
profit home and community-based health care organization in the United States, from
November 2014 to December 2016 and, prior to that, served in various executive roles at
numerous healthcare companies. His prior experience in the senior housing industry includes
having served as Chief Restructuring Officer and a member of the Board of Erickson
Retirement Communities and as a senior consultant to Sunrise Senior Living. Mr. Sansone
has served on the Board of Directors of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. (formerly known as
Mednax, Inc.) since July 2020 and the Lead Independent Director since January 2023. He
previously served as Chair of the Board of Pediatrix from July 2020 through December 2022.
He also serves and has served on the Boards of Directors of numerous investor-owned and
not-for-profit companies, primarily in the healthcare industry. Mr. Sansone earned a B.S. in
Economics from the State University of New York at Albany.

Lucinda M. Baier has served as Brookdale’s President and Chief Executive Officer and as a
member of the Board since February 2018, after having served as Brookdale’s Chief Financial
Officer since December 2015. Ms. Baier joined Brookdale from Navigant Consulting, Inc.
where she served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since 2013. In
addition, Ms. Baier has had multi-billion dollar operations responsibility, been the chief
executive officer for a publicly-traded retailer, and served as an executive officer of a Fortune
30 company. She has served for more than a decade as a board member of public and private
companies and organizations and currently serves on the board of directors of NIC, where she
serves as chair of the Diversity Equity Inclusion and Belonging Committee, the Nashville
Health Care Council, where she serves as chair, and the Nashville Chamber of Commerce
Board of Directors. She is a member of the NYSE Board Advisory Council, which identifies
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and connects diverse board candidates to NY SE-listed companies seeking new directors. She
also currently serves on Vanderbilt University Medical Center’s Board of Directors, including
as a member of its Audit and Compliance Committee and Chair of the Quality and Safety
Committee. A number of organizations have recognized Ms. Baier, including the CEO Forum
Group’s 2021 Top 10 CEOs Transforming Healthcare in America; Nashville Medical News’
Class of 2021 “Women to Watch”; Corporate Citizenship 2020 Award from the Committee
for Economic Development of The Conference Board; one of McKnight’s 2020 “Women of
Distinction”; and Nashville Business Journal’s “Most Admired CEQO” list for four years. Ms.
Baier is a Certified Public Accountant and a graduate of Illinois State University, with B.S.
and M.S. degrees in Accounting.

Jordan R. Asher, MD brings more than 20 years of expertise and a history of success in
large matrixed, mission-based, national healthcare systems. He currently serves as Executive
Vice President and Chief Clinical Officer of Sentara Healthcare, a large integrated delivery
health system including a clinically integrated network and insurance company serving
Virginia and North Carolina, where he has a wide range of responsibilities, including creating
high quality, equitable, and innovative models of care delivery as well as providing national
thought leadership directed towards the future of health care. From 2018 to 2023, he served as
the Chief Physician Executive and Senior Vice President of Sentara. Prior to Sentara, Dr.
Asher served in several executive roles with Ascension since 2006, including Chief Clinical
Officer of its Ascension Care Management subsidiary from 2016 to 2018 with responsibility
for network development and population and risk management, Chief Clinical Officer and
Chief Innovation Officer of Ascension’s MissionPoint Health Partners subsidiary from 2015
to 2016, and Chief Medical Officer and Chief Integration Officer of MissionPoint Health
Partners from 2011 to 2015. Dr. Asher earned a B.S. in Biology from Emory University, an
M.D. from Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, and an M.S. in Medical Management
from the University of Texas at Dallas and Southwestern Medical Center.

Marcus E. Bromley brings more than 45 years of real estate industry leadership experience.
He served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Gables Residential Trust
from 1993 until 2000, and then as a member of its Board until the company was acquired in
2005. Prior to joining Gables Residential Trust, Mr. Bromley was a division partner for the
Southeast operation of Trammell Crow Residential Company. Mr. Bromley has served as a
member of the Board of several non-listed real estate investment trusts, including serving as
Non-Executive Chairman of Cole Credit Property Trust V, Inc. from June 2015 to August
2018. Mr. Bromley currently serves as a member of the advisory board of Sealy Industrial
Partners, a private partnership specializing in the acquisition and operation of various
industrial real estate properties. Mr. Bromley holds a B.S. in Economics from Washington &
Lee University and an M.B.A. from the University of North Carolina.

Frank M. Bumstead has over 40 years of experience in the field of business and investment
management and financial and investment advisory services, including representing buyers
and sellers in a number of merger and acquisition transactions. Mr. Bumstead is a principal
shareholder of Flood, Bumstead, McCready & McCarthy, Inc., a business management firm
that represents artists, songwriters and producers in the music industry as well as athletes and
other high net worth clients, and has been with the firm since 1989. From 1993 to December
1998, Mr. Bumstead served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of FBMS Financial,
Inc., a registered investment advisor. He previously served as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the Country Music Association, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and
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Chairman of the Finance and Investment Committee of the Memorial Foundation, Inc., a
charitable foundation, and as a member of the Board of Advisors of United Supermarkets of
Texas, LLC and was Chairman of its Finance and Audit Committee. Mr. Bumstead received a
B.B.A. degree from Southern Methodist University and a Masters of Business Management
from Vanderbilt University’s Owen School of Management.

Victoria L. Freed brings more than 25 years of executive leadership in the areas of sales,
customer service, and marketing, and has earned numerous awards for outstanding
achievement in sales and marketing during her career. Ms. Freed is Senior Vice President of
Sales, Trade Support and Service for Royal Caribbean International, having served in that role
since 2008, where she oversees the largest sales team in the cruise line industry and also
manages the company’s consumer outreach, reservations, group sales, and customer service
functions. Prior to her service with Royal Caribbean, Ms. Freed worked for 29 years with
Carnival Cruise Lines, where she served as Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing
during the last 15 years of her tenure. She is a trustee of the United Way of Miami-Dade
County and serves as a member of the board of Jewish Adoption and Foster Care Options
(JAFCO). Ms. Freed earned a bachelor’s degree in business with an emphasis in marketing
from the University of Colorado.

Denise W. Warren brings more than 30 years of operational, financial and healthcare
experience. Most recently, she served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
of WakeMed Health & Hospitals from October 2015 through December 2020, where she was
responsible for the strategic, financial and operational performance of the organization’s
network of facilities in the North Carolina Research Triangle area. Prior to that, from 2005 to
September 2015, Ms.Warren served as Chief Financial Officer of Capella Healthcare, Inc., an
owner and operator of general acute-care hospitals, as well as its Executive Vice President
since January 2014, and as its Senior Vice President prior to that. Before joining Capella, she
served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Gaylord Entertainment
Company from 2000 to 2001, as Senior Equity Analyst and Research Director for Avondale
Partners LLC and as Senior Equity Analyst for Merrill Lynch & Co. She currently serves on
the Board of Directors of TruBridge, Inc. (formerly known as Computer Programs and
Systems, Inc.), where she serves as Chair of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Compensation Committee. She also serves on the Board of Directors of Newport Healthcare,
Straive, and Virtusa, Inc. Ms.Warren is National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD)
Directorship CertifiedTM and received a Corporate Directors Certificate from Harvard
Business School. Ms. Warren earned a B.S. degree in Economics from Southern Methodist
University and an M.B.A. from Harvard University.

Lee S. Wielansky has more than 40 years of commercial real estate investment, management,
and development experience. He currently serves as Chairman and CEO of Opportunistic
Equities, which specializes in low income housing. He has also served as Chairman and CEO
of Midland Development Group, Inc., which he re-started in 2003 and focused on the
development of retail properties in the mid-west and southeast. Prior to Midland, he served as
President and CEO of JDN Development Company, Inc. and as a director of JDN Realty
Corporation. Before joining JDN, he served as Managing Director — Investments of Regency
Centers Corporation, which in 1998 acquired Midland Development Group, a retail properties
development company co-founded by Mr.Wielansky in 1983. Mr.Wielansky served as the
Company’s Non-Executive Chairman of the Board from February 2018 through December
2019. He also serves as Lead Trustee of Acadia Realty Trust and served as a director of Isle of
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Capri Casinos, Inc. from 2007 to 2017 and Pulaski Financial Corp. from 2005 to 2016. He
also serves as a member of the Board of Clayco Construction Company. Mr.Wielansky
received a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration, with a major in Real Estate and
Finance, from the University of Missouri — Columbia, where he is currently a member of the
Strategic Development Board of the College of Business. He also serves on the Board of
Directors of The Foundation for Barnes-Jewish Hospital and on the Finance Committee of
both the Foundation and the Barnes-Jewish Hospital.

Doug Rutter — Executive Director — Brookdale Carriage Club Providence

There is not any professional service firm, association, trust, partnership, or corporation in
which the Executive Director, management staff, or any member of the Board of Directors
has a 10 percent or greater interest in and which it is presently intended shall currently or in
the future provide goods, leases, or services to the Community or to residents of the
Community, of an aggregate value of $500 or more within any year. Further, there is not any
professional service firm, association, trust, partnership, or corporation that currently provides
any goods, leases, or services of an aggregate value of $500 or more within any year to the
Community or to the residents of the Community that has a 10% or greater interest in any
officer, director, or management staff (including the Executive Director).

F. Criminal violation statement.

No officer or director has been involved in criminal or civil proceedings involving fraud,
embezzlement, fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; none is subject to a
currently effective injunction or restrictive court order or within the past five years had any state
or federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of matters arising out of the business
of retirement living or health care.

G. Location and description of physical property.
See Section II.A. Above
H. Estimated number of residents.

At full occupancy, in its present configuration and assuming 20% of the independent living
apartments are occupied by two persons, Brookdale Carriage Club Providence would expect to
have approximately 462 residents in its 275 independent living units, 56 assisted living units, 34
memory care units, and 42 skilled nursing beds.

As of April 30, 2024, there were 271 independent living residents, 40 assisted living residents, 29
memory enhanced residents, and 23 residents in the skilled nursing beds.

1. POLICIES
A. Admission
(i) Health, financial, and insurance requirements for admission.

Brookdale Carriage Club Providence requires that persons accepted for residence at
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence be able to live independently or demonstrate that
alternative arrangements have been made by the prospective resident to assure that
needed assistance will be provided by and for the Resident. Financial resources
sufficient to pay the monthly rent are required together with some assurance based on
the financial report of the Resident that he or she will be able to continue such
payment for the term of the Residency Agreement. If health or financial circumstances
change between the time of signing the Residency Agreement and entry into the
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community, Brookdale Carriage Club Providence reserves the right, subject to all
applicable laws, to decline admission to the Resident. There are no insurance
requirements.

(ii) Age requirements for admission.
Residents shall be sixty-two (62) years of age or older at the time of occupancy.
. Rescission privileges.

Residents may rescind their Residency Agreement within thirty (30) days following the
later of the execution of their Residency Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.S. §58-64-20. Residents are not required
to move into Brookdale Carriage Club Providence before the expiration of the thirty (30)
day rescission period.

If a resident dies before occupying a living unit at Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, or
if, on account of illness, injury, or incapacity, is precluded from occupying a living unit at
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence under the terms of his or her Residency Agreement,
the Residency Agreement is automatically canceled.

For rescinded or canceled Residency Agreements under the two paragraphs immediately
above, the resident or resident’s legal representative shall receive a refund of all money or
property transferred to Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, less (i) periodic charges
specified in the Residency Agreement and applicable only to the period of time a living
unit was actually occupied by the resident; (ii) those nonstandard costs specifically
incurred by Brookdale Carriage Club Providence at the request of the resident and
described in the Residency Agreement or any amendment to the Residency Agreement
signed by the resident; and (iii) non-refundable fees, if set out in the contract. Such refund
will take place within thirty (30) days of receipt of written notification.

. Termination provisions.

Since there is no entrance fee at Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, there is no
provision for the refund of an entrance fee upon termination of the Residency Agreement.
The membership fee is not refundable unless the Residency Agreement is terminated prior
to or during the first three months of occupancy. If termination occurs, the membership
fee will be prorated equally over the first three months of occupancy. The contract for
continuing care (Residency Agreement) may be terminated under the following
circumstances:

(i) By the Resident:
Before the Resident begins occupancy of the living unit.

Upon the death of a Resident, the Agreement will terminate thirty (30) days following
the Resident’s death, or when all of Resident’s furnishings and personal effects are
removed and the living unit’s keys are returned to Brookdale Carriage Club
Providence, whichever occurs later.

The Agreement will terminate sixty (60) days following Brookdale Carriage Club
Providence’s receipt of notice from Resident’s physician that Resident requires
medical, personal, or other nursing services for which Brookdale Carriage Club
Providence is not licensed, or does not provide, or until personal effects are removed,
whichever is later.
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The Resident may terminate the Residency Agreement at the end of any thirteen (13)
month period by giving forty-five (45) days advance written notice prior to the
expiration of the current term.

Resident may terminate the Residency Agreement at any time by giving Brookdale
Carriage Club Providence sixty (60) days’ prior written notice of termination. If such
notice is given, Resident will pay the monthly rent and any other charges as provided
for in the Residency Agreement, until the expiration of such sixty (60) day period, or
until all of Resident’s furnishings and personal effects are removed and the living
unit’s keys are returned to Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, whichever is later.

(ii) By Brookdale Carriage Club Providence:

If the Resident is in default in the payment of the monthly rent, Brookdale Carriage
Club Providence may, upon ten (10) days notice to Resident, terminate the Residency
Agreement and avail itself of the remedies provided under North Carolina law.

If the Resident shall violate any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of the
Residency Agreement, or the Resident Manual.

If the Resident requires services by Brookdale Carriage Club Providence for which it
is not licensed or does not provide, Brookdale Carriage Club Providence shall have the
right to terminate the Agreement by giving Resident thirty (30) days written notice.

Brookdale Carriage Club Providence may terminate the Residency Agreement at the
end of any thirteen (13) month period by giving thirty (30) days advance written
notice prior to the expiration of the current term.

D. Other Changes:
(i) Changing units.

If the Resident wishes to move from one apartment to another, and the desired new
apartment is available, the Resident will be allowed to move to the new apartment at
the prevailing market rate for the new unit. Resident will be responsible for all moving
costs and a transfer fee of $1,000.00.

(ii) Marriages/New second occupant.

If a Resident marries while a resident of Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, the new
spouse, upon approval of Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, will be added to the
Residency Agreement and the monthly fee will be increased by the amount of the
then-prevailing second person fee. The new spouse will not be charged a membership
fee or moving fee. If the new spouse is not accepted for residence at Brookdale
Carriage Club Providence, the Resident may cancel the Residency Agreement,
effective at the end of the current month. If two (2) existing Residents marry each
other or choose to cohabitate they may choose in which Resident’s apartment to live.
The Monthly Service Fee will stop immediately once the apartment not chosen is fully
vacated and a second person fee will be added to the Residency Agreement of the
Resident whose apartment was chosen.

(iii) Inability to pay.

Residents who face financial difficulties and are unable to pay their monthly fee will
be required to leave Brookdale Carriage Club Providence after ten (10) days’ notice.

E. Making unit available to another resident.
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A living unit occupied by a Resident will not be made available to a different or new
resident as long as Resident has entered into a valid Residency Agreement, is not in
default of the lease or in violation of any Brookdale Carriage Club Providence policy, and
is paying the monthly rent on the unit on a timely basis. In the event notice of termination
is given by Brookdale Carriage Club Providence or the Resident, Resident agrees that,
with twenty-four (24) hours’ notice, Brookdale Carriage Club Providence may show the
apartment to a potential new resident.

F. Pet Policy

Resident agrees not to keep dogs, cats, or other pets on the premises of Brookdale
Carriage Club Providence or allow any such pets to visit Brookdale Carriage Club
Providence without the prior written approval of Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
management. If approved, a Two Hundred Fifty Dollar ($250.00) non-refundable pet
deposit shall be paid to Brookdale Carriage Club Providence by the Resident prior to the
pet being kept by Resident. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence shall have the right to
require Resident to remove any pet from the premises if, within the sole discretion of
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence, the pet is deemed a nuisance.

IV. SERVICES

A. Services provided under the Carriage Club Independent Residency Agreement
include:

1. The right to occupy the living unit described in the Residency Agreement.

1. Meals. Every month each Resident is provided with 23 to 26 meal tickets (five less
than the number of days in the month), each entitling the Resident to a meal in the
Dining Room at lunch or dinner. Free continental breakfast is provided in the Club
House.

iii. Limited housekeeping services once a week.

iv. Maintenance services. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence is responsible for normal
wear and tear, maintenance and replacement of the property, furnishings, and
equipment owned by or leased to Brookdale Carriage Club Providence for use at
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence. The Resident is responsible for any damage to
such property, furnishings, and equipment, including the cost of repair or replacement
of the diminution in value thereof, intentionally or negligently caused by the Resident
or his or her guest.

v. Health Services (See below).
vi. Planned social and recreational services including crafts.

vii. Scheduled transportation for shopping trips, medical appointments, and other activities
and needs.

viii. Utilities. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence furnishes heating, air-conditioning,
light, water, sewer, electricity, and trash removal from designated areas. Residents are
responsible for their own telephone and cable television service.

ix. Grounds keeping. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence furnishes basic grounds
keeping services, including lawn, tree, and shrubbery care. Residents may elect to
plant and maintain certain areas determined by the management; however, Residents
will be responsible for planting and maintaining such personal gardening areas.
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x1. 24 hour staffed reception and security. Electronically monitored emergency call
system.

B. Services provided under the Carriage Club Assisted Living Residency Agreement
include:

1. The right to occupy the living unit described in the Residency Agreement.
ii. Every Resident is provided with 3 meals a day.
iii. Limited housekeeping services once a week.

iv. Maintenance services. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence is responsible for normal
wear and tear, maintenance and replacement of the property, furnishings and
equipment owned by or leased to Brookdale Carriage Club Providence for use at
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence. The Resident is responsible for any damage to
such property, furnishings, and equipment, including the cost of repair or replacement
of the diminution in value thereof, intentionally or negligently caused by the Resident
or his or her guest.

v. Health Services (See below).
vi. Planned social and recreational services including crafts.

vii. Scheduled transportation for shopping trips, medical appointments, and other activities
and needs.

viii. Utilities. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence furnishes heating, air-conditioning,
light, water, sewer, electricity, and trash removal from designated areas. Residents are
responsible for their own telephone and cable television service.

ix. Grounds keeping. Brookdale Carriage Club Providence furnishes basic grounds
keeping services, including lawn, tree and shrubbery care. Residents may elect to plant
and maintain certain areas determined by the management; however, Residents will be
responsible for planting and maintaining such personal gardening areas.

x. Full use of amenities in the Assisted Living facility.
C. Additional Services Available at Additional Cost:

Additional meals may be purchased on a single meal basis or using meal plans which may
be offered from time to time. Lunch and dinner are available in the Dining Room each
day. Free continental breakfast is provided in the Club House. Guests may be brought to
meals at the established guest meal prices.

The beauty/barber shop is operated by an independent contractor and services may be
charged to the Resident’s Brookdale Carriage Club Providence account.

Additional Service Charges are as follows:

Dining Room Prices per Meal (all meal prices include tax)

Meal Ticket Guest
Lunch $6.00 $7.00

Meal Ticket Guest
Dinner $6.00 $11.00

Meal Ticket Guest
Brunch $6.00 $14.00

Lunch Residents/Guest Tickets - 20 Tickets @ $125.00
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Dinner Guest Tickets - 10 Tickets @ $90.00

Guest Units

One Night $150.00
Transportation

Airport Charge $30.00
Maintenance

Extra Towel Bar $10.00

Ceiling Fan $50.00

Patch Holes in Drywall (Minor)  $40.00

Patch Holes in Drywall (Major)  $75.00

Grab Bar 12” $30.00

Grab Bar 18” $35.00

Grab Bar 24” $40.00

Closet Shelving $2.00/foot
Wireless Doorbell $40.00

Digital Thermostat $75.00
Additional Labor (one tech) $15.00/hour
Extra Keys $2.00

Extra Phone or Cable Jack $50.00

Light Dimmer $10.00

Outdoor Carpet $75.00

Door Stop $5.00
Programming TV's, $ 7.50/hour (1hour minimum)
Hang TV (supply mount) $65.00
Handicap Toilet $100.00
Housekeeping

Laundering of Bedspreads $10.50 - $ 16.50
Laundering of Blankets $7.50 -8 14.50
Bathroom Rug Cleaning $2.50

Door Mat Cleaning $2.50

Carpet Cleaning (Spot Removal)  $20.00

Carpet Cleaning (Per Room) $50.00
Nursing

Kleenex $1.00

Beauty Shop

Shampoo and Set $22.00 & up
Cut $18.00 & up
Manicure $15.00 & up
Perm $66.00 & up
Administration

Copies $ .10/copy

Fax $1.00/page (incoming & outgoing)

Apartment Transfer Fee
Move Fee

$1,000.00

D. Health Services Available

Brookdale Carriage Club Providence may make available to, or may make arrangements
for, Residents to receive health care services, including physical therapy, rehabilitative
treatments and equipment, ambulance services, limited pharmacy services, laboratory

Brookdale Carriage Club Providence Disclosure Statement — 2023- Page 12



tests, and other health care related services as may be determined by Brookdale Carriage
Club Providence. Charges for these health care services are in addition to the monthly
rental fee in the apartments, the Coach House, or healthcare center. Brookdale Carriage
Club Providence offers skilled nursing care, therefore, it can be provided at an extra
charge to those who have lived at Brookdale Carriage Club Providence for at least thirty
(30) days, and who require such care, to the extent space is available.

E. Personal Services Available.

The Coach House assisted living unit is available to Residents and others requiring
personal care. It is licensed by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human
Services as a Home for the Aged. Care in this unit requires an additional monthly charge
at the prevailing rate depending on the unit size.

V. FEES CHARGED
A. Application, registration or entrance fees.

There are no application, registration or entrance fees (other than a $5,250- $6,250
nonrefundable membership fee for independent residents and a $5,000 - $6,000
nonrefundable fee for assisted living residents). At the termination of the Residence
Agreement, any prepaid expenses will be refunded to the Resident less amounts owed to
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence at that time, and less the costs of making any repairs
to the apartment beyond normal wear and tear.

The Membership Fee is a one (1) time fee which entitles residents priority access to all
services and products of Brookdale Senior Living nationwide.
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B. Monthly Service Fees for each type of unit are: The Monthly Service Fee entitles the

resident to the services previously listed in Section IV.

Name Type Range of fees*

The Magnolia Efficiency/Studio $3,845-$4,695
The Gardenia One Bedroom, One Bath $4,395-$5,695
The Cherry Blossom ggfufjdroom’ One Bath $4,795-$5,695
The Dogwood Two Bedroom, Two Bath $5,245-$6,445

The Jasmine

Two Bedroom, Two Bath
Deluxe

$5,795-$6,245

The Villas Two Bedroom, Two Bath $6,595-$6,895
Assisted Living $5,623-$5,915
Memory Care $6,570-$7,070

*The amount of the fee depends on the location. Monthly Service Fees paid after the 10th day of the month shall
include an additional late charge of 4%. Monthly fees represent base rent and do not include full care services
offered which vary by resident.

C. Fee changes.

Periodic charges are adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Residence Agreement,
which provides for the Resident to be given notice of any monthly rental fee increase sixty
(60) days before the automatic renewal of the Residence Agreement. The increases are
based on the best judgment of the provider based on increasing costs of operation and
market factors. Over the past twenty plus years of the operation of Brookdale Carriage
Club Providence, overall percentage fee increases and average monthly fee increases in
dollars have been as follows:

Independent Independent Assisted Assisted

Living Living Living Living
Year % Increase $ Increase % Increase $ Increase
1988 0% $0 0% $0
1989 0% $0 0% $0
1990 4.75% $73 5.41% $100
1991 0.00% $0 5.13% $100
1992 4.00% $55 4.86% $100
1993 3.20% $45 2.33% $50
1994 3.5% t0 6.5% $60 to $100 4.50% $100
1995 3.5% to0 6.0% $40 to $135 4.35% $100
1996 3.5% to 6.0% $50 to $145 4.12% $100
1997 3.25% $65 3.00% $80
1998 3.75% $78 3.25% $100
1999 4.00% $90 3.75% $100
2000 5.00% $100 3.00% $90
2001 4.50% $120 0.00% $0
2002 4.75% $150 3.00% $100
2003 3.75% $130 4.00% $125
2004 4.00% $100 4.50% $151
2005 4.00% $100 4.00% $125
2006 5.00% $133 4.50% $169
2007 5.50% $152 5.50% $210
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2008 5.50% $164 5.50% $226

2009 4.00% $124 4.00% $179
2010 4.00% $124 3.50% $162
2011 2.50% $95 4.00% $185
2012 3.00% $109 3.00% $177
2013 3.50% $117 3.50% $179
2014 4.00% $119 4.50% $184
2015 5.00% $125 5.00% $193
2016 5.50% $216 5.50% $312
2017 5.50% $229 5.50% $353
2018 5.00% $208 5.00% $339
2019 5.00% $217 5.00% $338
2020 5.50% $241 5.50% $372
2021 4.50% $202 5.50% $397
2022 12.00% $500 12.00% $732
2023 6.00% $300 7.00% $450

D. Late Charges

Monthly Service Fees paid after the tenth (10th) day of the month shall include an additional
late charge of 4%.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. Reserves, escrows and trusts

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-33, ARCLP-Charlotte, LLC maintains an operating
reserve. Funds serving as the operating reserve are deposited with CIBC. George Hicks,
Executive Vice President — Finance will be making decisions on the account. Mr. George
Hicks has been with Brookdale for over thirty years.

The forecasted financial statements indicate that total operating expenses adjusted to include
principal payments on long-term debt, less depreciation and amortization for 2024 will be
$20,903,541. Based on this level of forecasted operating expenses and the 50% reserve
requirement for the occupancy shortfall, the operating reserve requirement for 2024 is
$10,451,771 which as of May 29, 2024, the Operating Reserve balance was funded to meet the
requirement.

B. 2023 Actual vs. Financial Forecast
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BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE
Actual Vs Forecasted Income State ment
For the year ending December 31, 2023
(amounts in 000's)

REVENUES
IL Income $ 10981 $ 10234 $ 47 A
IL Double Ocp Income 447 327 120
AL Income 2,298 2,530 (232) B
ME Income 1,928 2,455 (527) C
NC Income 2,683 3,159 (476) D
Other Income 1,983 1,144 839 E
Total Operating Revenues $ 20320 $ 19,849 $ 471
Other operating income 3 - 3
Total revenue $ 20323 $ 19,849 474
EXPENSES
Ancillary Expenses 846 619 227 F
Administration & General 2,655 2,766 (111)
NC Department 1,644 1,627 17
ME Department 725 639 86
AL Department 967 1,047 (80)
Plant Operations/Maintenance 1,387 1,243 144
Utility 649 651 ?2)
Housekeeping & Laundry 469 534 (65)
Resident Services 729 557 172
Food Service 2,627 2,612 15
Marketing 1,008 914 94
General Insurance 519 356 163
Worker's Compensation 85 117 (32)
Property Tax 487 520 (33)
Depreciation & Amortization 3,721 3,996 275 G
Interest Expense 4,954 4,869 85
Total Operating Expenses $ 23472 $ 23,067 $ 405
Non-Operating Income 890 - 890 H
Management fee expense 1,016 - 1,016 1
Net Income $ (3275) $ (3218) $ (57)

Notes on Income Statement Variances:
Threshold: Variances greater than $203 (~1% of revenues).

A - The favorable variance in Independent Living Income is due to both receiving a higher average monthly|
rent rate than forecasted and experiencing higher occupancy than forecasted. This favorability was
partially offset by higher discounts than forecasted due to the higher occupancy.

B - The unfavorable variance in Assisted Living Income is primarily due to lower occupancy than
forecasted. Actual average occupied units were 30.4 for 2023 compared to the forecast of 32.3.

C - The unfavorable variance in Memory Care Living Income is due both to lower occupancy than
forecasted and the average monthly discount usage was higher than forecasted. Actual average occupied
units were 24.2 for 2023 compared to a forecast of 25.9.

D - The unfavorable variance in Nursing Care Income is primarily due to lower occupancy than
forecasted. This was partially offset by higher average daily rate than forecasted.

E - The favorable variance in Other Income is primarily due to higher therapy revenue and community fee
revenue than forecasted.

F - The unfavorable variance in Ancillary Expenses is due to higher therapy labor than forecasted.

G - The favorable variance in Depreciation & Amortization expense is due to the timing of when certain
capital expenditures were put into service compared to forecast.

H — The favorable variance in non-operating income is due to higher than forecasted investment income
and interest earned on the cash accounts.

I — The unfavorable variance in Management fee expense is a result of these expenses not being included
in the forecast for 2023.
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BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE
Statement of Cash Flows - PY Forecast to Actual
For the year ending December 31, 2023
(amounts in 000's)

2023 2023 Variance
Actual Disclosure to Disclosure
Net income (loss) (3,275) (3,218) (57)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to operating cash:
Debt modificaton costs 202 - 202
Depreciation 3,660 3,938 278) A
Amortization of deferred financing costs 61 58 3
Change in operating assets
Accounts receivable, net (76) ) (67)
Other assets (215) 2) (213)
Accounts payable (113) (390) 277 B
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 66 60 6
Tenant deposits and other restricted liabilities 2 4 2)
Other liabilities - -
Net cash provided by operating activities 312 441 (129)
Cash flows from investing activities
(Deposit to) withdrawals from operating reserve fund -
Purchase of property and equipment (3,005) (2,374) (631) C
Net cash used in investing activities (3,005) (2,374) (631)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of long-term debt (28,376) (1,960) (26,416) D
Member contributions, net 32,505 4,500 28,005 E
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,129 2,540 1,589
Increase (decrease) in cash 1,436 607 829
Cash, beginning of year 23,094 23,094 -
Cash, ending of year 24,530 23,701 829

Notes on Cash Flows Variances:
Threshold: Variances greater than $233 (~0.25% of'total assets).

A — The variance is due to the timing of when certain capital expenditures were put into service compared to
forecast.

B — The variance in the accounts payable is due to timing of when payments were made during year end compared
to the forecasted amounts primarily related to the Community's capital expenditures.

C — The increase in capital expenditures over the 2023 forecast is primarily due to greater spend to renovate the
Clubhouse than previously forecasted.

D - The variance is due to the December 2023 refinancing of the long term debt that was not anticipated in the
forecast.

E - The majority of this variance relates to higher cash received from the parent than expected primarily due to the
refinancing of long term debt as noted above.
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BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE
Actual Vs Forecasted Balance Sheet
For the year ending December 31, 2023
(amounts in 000's)

2023 2023 Variance

Actual Disclosure to Disclosure
Cash - restricted 972 1,039 67)
Cash - unrestricted 12,745 12,147 598 A
Accounts receivable, net 328 261 67
Other current assets 580 367 213
Total current assets 14,625 13,814 811
Land 10,890 10,890 -
Buildings and improvements 94,768 95,845 (1,077)
Furniture and equipment 15,109 15,420 311)
Construction in Progress 2,499 480 2,019
Gross property, plant and equipment 123,266 122,635 631 B
Accumulated depreciation (55,529) (55,808) 279 C
Property, plant and equipment, net 67,737 66,827 910
Long term restricted cash 10,813 10,515 298 D
Assets 93,175 91,156 2,019
Current portion of long-term debt 948 28,074 (27,126) E
Accounts payable 801 524 277 F
Accrued expenses 1,050 1,021 29
Tenant deposits 92 94 )
Other current liability 190 211 (21)
Total current liabilities 3,081 29,924 (26,843)
Long-term debt 58,855 57,941 914 G
Other long-term liabilities - - -
Liabilities 61,936 87,865 (25,929)
Equity 31,239 3,291 27,948 H
Liabilities and Equity 93,175 91,156 2,019

Notes on Balance Sheet Variances:
Threshold: Variances greater than $233 (~0.25% of total assets).

A — The variance in unrestricted cash is a result of greater interest earned than forecasted.

B — The variance is primarily due to greater spend to renovate the Clubhouse than previously forecasted.

C - The variance is due to the timing of when certain capital expenditures were put into service compared
to forecast.

D - The variance in Long term restricted cash can be attributed to greater interest earned on the operating
reserves than forecasted.

E - The variance is due to the December 2023 refinancing of the long term debt that was not anticipated in
the forecast.

F - The variance in the accounts payable is due to timing of when payments were made during year end
compared to the forecasted amounts primarily related to the Community's capital expenditures.

G - The variance is due to the December 2023 refinancing of the long term debt that was not anticipated
in the forecast.

H - The majority of this variance relates to higher cash received from the parent than expected primarily
due to the refinancing of long term debt as noted above.
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C. Facility Assumptions

¢ In the financial forecast, an average occupancy rate of 88.0% (242.1 units) for
independent living is assumed throughout the forecast period for the 275
independent living units.

¢ In the financial forecast, an average occupancy rate of 83.7% (46.9 units) for
assisted living is assumed throughout the forecast period for the 56 assisted living
units.

¢ In the financial forecast, an average occupancy rate of 90.6% (30.8 units) for
memory care is assumed throughout the forecast period for the 34 memory care
units.

¢ In the financial forecast, an average occupancy rate of 74.7% (31.4 units) for

skilled nursing is assumed throughout the forecast period for the 42 skilled nursing
beds.

ATTACHMENTS

Attachment 1 — Five Year Forecasted Financial Statements compiled by Lattimore Black
Morgan & Cain, P.C., Certified Public Accountants and Business Advisors.

Attachment 2 — Independent Living Residency Agreement
Attachment 3 — Assisted Living Residency Agreement
Attachment 4 — Audited Financial Statements

Attachment 5 — Interim Financial Statements as of April 30, 2024
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LBMC

ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT

The Board of Directors
ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC:

Management is responsible for the accompanying forecasts of ARCLP — Charlotte, LLC d/b/a
Brookdale Carriage Club Providence (the “Company”), which comprises the forecasted balance
sheets, statements of income and changes in member’s equity, and cash flows as of and for each of
the five years ending December 31, 2024 through 2028, and the related summaries of significant
assumptions and accounting policies in accordance with guidelines for the presentation of forecasts
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). We have performed
a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not
examine or review the forecasts nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the
accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these forecasts. The
accompanying forecasts were prepared for use by the Company for inclusion in its annual disclosure
statement for the North Carolina Department of Insurance. All other information that may be
included with the forecasts identified in the preceding paragraph has not been subjected to an
examination, review, compilation, or preparation engagement by us and, accordingly, we do not
express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on it.

The forecasted results may not be achieved, as there will usually be differences between the
forecasted and actual results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as
expected, and these differences may be material. We have no responsibility to update this report
for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.

The accompanying forecasts and this report are intended solely for the information and use of the

Company and the North Carolina Department of Insurance and are not intended to be and should
not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

LLBMC,PL

Brentwood, Tennessee
May 28, 2024



d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence

ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC

Forecasted Balance Sheets
As of December 31,
(in Thousands of Dollars)

Schedule |

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Assets
Current assets:
Cash, restricted S 1,112 962 1,067 968 1,060
Cash, unrestricted 12,745 12,745 12,745 12,745 12,745
Accounts receivable, net 337 347 357 367 378
Other current assets 582 584 586 588 591
Total current assets 14,776 14,638 14,755 14,668 14,774
Property and equipment:
Land and improvements 10,890 10,890 10,890 10,890 10,890
Building and improvements 96,934 97,899 98,993 100,155 101,355
Furniture and equipment 16,275 16,795 17,384 18,010 18,656
Construction in progress 499 499 499 499 499
Total property and equipment 124,598 126,083 127,766 129,554 131,400
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (59,580) (63,707) (67,920) (72,225) (76,625)
Net property and equipment 65,018 62,376 59,846 57,329 54,775
Operating reserve fund 10,452 10,603 10,932 31,787 9,737
Total Assets S 90,246 87,617 85,533 103,784 79,286
Liabilities and Member's Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt S 1,102 1,277 43,089 182 196
Accounts payable 813 826 839 852 866
Accrued expenses 1,118 1,189 1,262 1,338 1,417
Tenant deposits and other restricted liabilities 96 101 106 111 117
Other current liabilities 190 189 189 190 188
Total current liabilities 3,319 3,582 45,485 2,673 2,784
Long-term debt 57,754 56,606 13,646 13,579 13,454
Total liabilities 61,073 60,188 59,131 16,252 16,238
Member's equity, unrestricted 29,173 27,429 26,402 87,532 63,048
Total Liabilities and Member's Equity S 90,246 87,617 85,533 103,784 79,286

See Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies and Accountants' Compilation Report.

-2-



ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC

d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence

Forecasted Statements of Income and Changes in Member's Equity
For the Years Ending December 31,

(in Thousands of Dollars)

Schedule 1l

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Revenues:
Independent living S 12,367 13,714 15,355 16,495 17,090
Assisted living 2,651 3,411 3,985 4,132 4,263
Memory enhancement 2,919 3,239 3,471 3,593 3,718
Nursing care 3,394 4,087 4,976 5,382 5,532
Second party rents 512 574 635 674 698
Other income 1,999 1,989 2,181 2,210 2,278
Total revenues 23,842 27,014 30,603 32,486 33,579
Expenses:
Ancillary expenses 848 923 1,039 1,098 1,130
General and administration 3,246 3,328 3,428 3,531 3,639
Nursing 1,675 1,701 1,752 1,804 1,863
Memory enhancement 1,001 1,014 1,045 1,076 1,112
Assisted living 1,374 1,387 1,410 1,434 1,461
Plant operations and maintenance 1,259 1,290 1,329 1,369 1,411
Utilities 683 713 734 756 779
Housekeeping and laundry 579 594 617 638 659
Resident services 616 627 646 665 686
Food service 2,810 2,976 3,161 3,281 3,388
Marketing 972 996 1,025 1,056 1,089
General insurance 484 506 521 537 553
Workers' compensation 123 128 132 136 140
Property taxes 473 494 508 524 539
Depreciation and amortization 4,180 4,256 4,342 4,419 4,471
Interest expense 3,684 3,425 3,241 2,582 843
Total expenses 24,007 24,358 24,930 24,906 23,763
Net income (loss) S (165) 2,656 5,673 7,580 9,816
Member's Equity:
Beginning of year S 31,239 29,173 27,429 26,402 87,532
Net income (loss) (165) 2,656 5,673 7,580 9,816
Contributions/(distributions) from (to) member (1,901)  (4,400) (6,700) 53,550 (34,300)
End of year S 29,173 27,429 26,402 87,532 63,048

See Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies and Accountants' Compilation Report.
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence

Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ending December 31,

(in Thousands of Dollars)

Schedule Il

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) (165) 2,656 5,673 7,580 9,816
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided

by operating activities:

Depreciation 4,051 4,127 4,213 4,305 4,399
Loan fee amortization 129 129 129 114 72
Changes in:
Accounts receivable, net (9) (10) (10) (212) (11)
Other current assets (2) (2) (2) (3) (2)
Accounts payable 12 13 13 13 14
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 69 71 73 79 77
Tenant deposits and other restricted liabilities 4 5 5 5 6
Total adjustments 4,254 4,333 4,421 4,502 4,555
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,089 6,989 10,094 12,082 14,371
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (1,332) (1,486) (1,683) (1,787) (1,847)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,332) (1,486) (1,683) (1,787) (1,847)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Payment of long-term debt (1,077) (1,102) (1,277) (43,089) (182)

Contributions/(distributions) from (to) member (1,901) (4,400) (6,700) 53,550 (34,300)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,978) (5,502) (7,977) 10,461 (34,482)
Annual cash flow (221) 1 434 20,756  (21,958)
Beginning balance of cash and restricted cash 24,530 24,309 24,310 24,744 45,500
Ending balance of cash and restricted cash 24,309 24,310 24,744 45,500 23,542

See Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies and Accountants' Compilation Report.



Schedule IV
ARCLP — CHARLOTTE, LLC d/b/a
BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE

Five Years Ending December 31, 2028
Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies

ARCLP — Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence (the “Company”) is an operator of
a senior living community (the “Community”) in Charlotte, North Carolina and is wholly owned by
BKD FM Holding Company, LLC (the “Member”), which through American Retirement Corporation
(“ARC”), is a wholly owned subsidiary of Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. All of the aforementioned
entities are for profit. The financial forecasts present to the best of the knowledge and belief of
management (“Management”) of the Company’s forecasted balance sheets, statements of income
and changes in Member’s equity, and cash flows as of and for each of the five years ending
December 31, 2024 through 2028 based on the assumptions described herein.

The forecasts reflect Management’s judgment as of May 28, 2024, the date of these forecasts, of
the expected conditions, and its expected course of action assuming that the assumptions included
herein occur.

This report was prepared for use by the Company for inclusion in its annual disclosure statement for
the North Carolina Department of Insurance (“DOI”). Accordingly, this report should not be used for
any other purpose. The assumptions disclosed herein are those that Management believes are
significant to the forecasts. Even if the assumptions stated above occur, there will usually be
differences between forecasted and actual results because events and circumstances frequently do
not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

Description of the Property and Facilities

The Company is an owner and operator of a senior living community (the “Community”) located on
a 45-acre site at 5800 OIld Providence Road in Charlotte, North Carolina and consisting of ten
apartment buildings (one, two, and three story) and seven four-plex villas with two large lakes in
the center of the Community. The Company is committed to providing senior living solutions
through a property that is designed, purpose-built, and operated to provide the highest quality
service, care, and living accommodations for residents. The Community offers a variety of living
arrangements and services to accommodate all levels of physical ability and health. The Community
has 275 independent living units, 56 assisted living units, 34 memory care units, and 42 skilled
nursing beds on one campus. The Community also has common spaces including a lobby, dining
room, auditorium, game rooms, craft room, country store/snack bar, beauty/barber shop, and
offices. See Tables 1, 2, 3, and 4 following for further detail of unit types and historical occupancy.

As a continuing care retirement community (“CCRC”) licensed by the North Carolina DOI, the
Company offers a 13-month Residence Agreement, renewable for successive periods of 13 months.
The Community began operation in July 1988, and ARC has managed the Community since its
opening. ARC assumed ownership and responsibility for the operation in May 1996. In December
2001, the Company sold the majority of the Community property and equipment to CALF and
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Schedule IV, continued

ARCLP — CHARLOTTE, LLC d/b/a
BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE

Five Years Ending December 31, 2028
Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies

contemporaneously entered into a long-term operating lease with a 15-year term. In April 2007,
the Company purchased the property and equipment from CALF and terminated the associated
lease.

Significant Accounting Policies

Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable are reported net of an allowance for credit losses to
represent the Company’s estimate of expected losses at the balance sheet date. The adequacy of
the Company's allowance for credit losses is reviewed on an ongoing basis, using historical payment
trends, write-off experience, analyses of receivable portfolios by payor source and aging of
receivables, a review of specific accounts, as well as expected future economic conditions and
market trends, and adjustments are made to the allowance as necessary. Billings for services under
third-party payor programs are recorded net of estimated retroactive adjustments, if any.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Renovations and
improvements, which improve and/or extend the life of an asset, are generally capitalized and
depreciated over the estimated useful life of the renovations or improvements. Expenditures for
ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 3 -40years
Furniture and equipment 3-10years
Resident lease intangibles 1-2 vyears

Statement of Cash Flows — The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with
a maturity of three months or less to be cash. Restricted cash is made up of the operating reserve
fund, which is further discussed within the Operating Reserve Fund section, as well as debt service
reserve accounts required by the Company’s lender under its mortgage debt agreement.

Other Current Assets — Other assets primarily consist of supplies inventory, prepaid expenses, and
deferred move-in incentives.

Tenant Deposits — Represents fully refundable tenant deposits maintained in separate bank
depository accounts or certificates of deposit and are classified as “cash —restricted” on the balance
sheets.

Income Taxes — No provision for federal or state income taxes has been made as income is reported
on the tax returns of the investors, as the Company is a limited liability company.



Schedule IV, continued

ARCLP — CHARLOTTE, LLC d/b/a
BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE

Five Years Ending December 31, 2028
Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies
Assumptions
The occupancy rates are based on historical utilization and the experience of Management when
operating similar units at other properties it owns and/or manages and current events, that are

expected to impact future occupancy. Historical occupancy percentages, as presented by
Management, are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1
Historical Average Occupancy

As of
2020 2021 2022 2023  April 30, 2024
Independent Living Units 74.7% 67.1% 66.7% 70.9% 76.3%
Assisted Living Units 723% 73.1% 68.0% 54.3% 56.5%
Memory Enhanced Units 833% 77.2% 62.8% 71.2% 80.0%
Skilled Nursing Units 52.8% 38.4% 47.9% 45.7% 54.3%
Overall Community 72.8% 65.8% 64.6% 66.0% 71.6%

Independent Living Utilization - The Company achieved stabilized independent living occupancy of
95% in 1997. The Company projects an average of 79.1% occupancy during 2024 and 90.3%
throughout the remainder of the forecasted period which includes a lease up assumption for 2025
through 2028. Average monthly rents were $5,322 per unit during 2023 and are assumed to increase
3.5% in 2024 and each year thereafter.

Assisted Living Utilization — The Company achieved stabilized assisted living occupancy of 95% in
1997. The Company projects an average of 65.4% occupancy during 2024 and 88.3% throughout the
remainder of the forecasted period which includes a lease up assumption for 2025 through 2028.
Average monthly rents were $6,654 per unit during 2023 and are assumed to increase 3.5% in 2024
and each year thereafter.

Memory Care Utilization — The Company achieved stabilized memory-enhanced occupancy of
94.1% in 2002. The Company projects an average of 83.9% occupancy during 2024 and 92.3%
throughout the remainder of the forecasted period which includes a lease up assumption for 2025
through 2028. Average monthly rents were $6,981 per unit during 2023 and are assumed to increase
3.5% in 2024 and each year thereafter.

Skilled Nursing Utilization — Skilled nursing beds are sheltered under CCRC regulations in the State
of North Carolina and are not available to the outside community. The Company projects an average
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Schedule IV, continued

ARCLP — CHARLOTTE, LLC d/b/a
BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE

Five Years Ending December 31, 2028
Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies

of 56.3% occupancy during 2024 and 79.4% throughout the remainder of the forecasted period
which includes a lease up assumption for 2025 through 2028. Average monthly rents were $11,807
per unit during 2023 and are assumed to increase 2.5% in 2024 and each year thereafter.

Revenue Recognition

The Company is a rental community, and as such, the rate structure does not include entrance fees.
Prior to the time of occupancy, the resident enters into a Residence Agreement and pays a non-
refundable membership fee of $5,250 - $6,250 for independent residents and $5,000 - $6,000 for
assisted living residents. At the termination of the Residence Agreement, any prepaid expenses will
be refunded to the resident, less amounts owed to the Company at that time and the costs of making
any repairs to the apartment beyond normal wear and tear.

Independent living revenue is based upon the expected occupancy of the independent living units
and the monthly service fees expected to be charged to the resident of the units. Effective for the
year 2024, the monthly service fees charged to the residents of the independent living units, as
provided by Management, are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2
Unit Configuration - Independent Living
Number 2024 Range
Type of Unit of Units of Monthly Fees!!)

Magnolia (1 BR Efficiency/Studio) 29 $3,845 - 54,695
Gardenia (1 BR + 1 Bath) 102 4,395 -5,695
Cherry Blossom (1 BR Deluxe) 39 4,795 - 5,695
Dogwood (2 BR + 2 Bath) 54 5,245 — 6,445
Jasmine (2 BR Deluxe) 23 5,795 - 6,245
Villa (2 BR Deluxe) 28 6,595 — 6,895
Total Independent Living Units 275
Weighted Average Monthly Fees $5,403

(1) 2024 monthly fees represent base rent and do not include full care services offered which vary
by resident.

Monthly service fees vary based upon the location and view of the units. A second person monthly
fee of $975 is charged in the independent living units. As provided by Management, monthly service
fees are assumed to increase 3.5% in 2024 and each year thereafter.
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Five Years Ending December 31, 2028
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Assisted living and memory enhanced revenue are based upon the expected occupancy of the
existing home for the aged beds, the assisted living units and the monthly service fees expected to
be charged to the residents of the units. Effective for the year 2024, the monthly service fees
charged to the residents of the assisted living units, as provided by Management, are summarized
in Table 3.

Table 3
Unit Configuration - Assisted Living and Memory Care
2024
Type of Unit Numb.er Monthly
of Units

FeesV
Assisted Living Units:
Studio 42 S5,623
Deluxe Apartment 6 5,782
Alcove 6 5,915
AL/HC Semi-Private 2 5,915
Total Units/Weighted Average 56 5,682
Memory Enhanced Units: 34 $6,952

(1) 2024 monthly fees represent base rent and do not include full care services offered which vary
by resident.

The monthly service fees for the assisted living units are assumed by Management to increase 3.5%
annually beginning in January 2024. The monthly service fees for the memory-enhanced units are
assumed by Management to increase 3.5% annually beginning in January 2024. Care service revenue
is billed when the services are utilized by the resident and will vary based on need. The monthly care
fees are assumed by Management to increase 3.5% annually beginning in January 2024.

Skilled nursing revenue is based upon the expected occupancy of the existing nursing center and the
monthly service fees expected to be charged to the residents of the units. Effective for the year
2024, the monthly service fees charged to the residents of the nursing center units, as provided by
Management, are summarized in Table 4.
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Table 4
Unit Configuration - Skilled Nursing Center
Number 2024 Daily 2024
Type of Unit of Beds Room Rate Monthly Fees

Skilled - Semi-Private Beds

14 41 12,471
(Medicare-certified beds) 2410 °12,
ICF - Private Room 8 410 12,471
ICF - Semi-Private Beds 20 335 10,190
Total Nursing Units 42
Weighted Average Rate and Monthly Fees S374 S 11,385

(1) Skilled Nursing Center beds are licensed as Sheltered Beds and are only available for occupancy
by residents transferring from Independent Living or Assisted Living units.

The monthly service fees for the nursing center units are assumed by Management to increase 2.5%
annually beginning in January 2024.

Other revenue consisting of income from therapy services, guest meals, processing fees, and other
miscellaneous items has been estimated by Management based on historical experience of the
Company. Beyond 2024, other revenue is expected to vary based on overall facility occupancy as
well as an inflation rate of approximately 2.0%.
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Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies
Operating Expenses
Management has estimated operating expenses based on historical operating experience of the

Company and the experience of other similar ARC retirement communities. Salaries and wages are
based on historical salary and wage rates at the Company.

Table 5
Staffing Levels and Average Salary - 2024
FTE's
Department End of
Year
Ancillary 12.0
General & Administrative 7.2
Nursing 21.5
Memory Enhanced 18.5
Assisted Living 11.4
Plant Operations & Maintenance 7.2
Housekeeping & Laundry 13.7
Resident Services 9.0
Food Services 39.8
Marketing 3.7
Total FTE's 144.0
Average Salary $50,478

The expected number of full-time equivalents (“FTE’s”) in Table 5 is based on Management’s
historical experience and has been adjusted to meet the needs of the Community as the nursing
beds reach stabilized occupancy. Salary and wages are assumed to increase 3.0% beginning in
January 2024 and throughout the remainder of the forecasted period.

The cost of employee benefits, consisting of payroll taxes, health care insurance, and other
miscellaneous items is estimated by Management to be 18.1% of salaries and wages. The assumed
increase in fringe benefits is based on the assumed increase in staffing, salaries, and wage rates.

Estimated dietary expense consists of raw food and dietary supplies costs. These costs are based
on the historical experience of the Company. Management assumes raw food and dietary supplies
would vary according to the number of residents in the Community. Raw food costs and dietary
supplies are assumed by Management to increase 4.0% in 2024 and 3.0% annually throughout the
remainder of the forecasted period.
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The cost of utilities is based on the operating experience of the Company. Utility costs are assumed
to increase 5.2% in 2024, then increase 3.4% throughout the remainder of the forecasted period.

The cost of insurance is estimated by Management based upon historical experience and is assumed
to decrease 6.6% in 2024, then increase 3.4% annually throughout the remainder of the forecasted
period.

The cost of other non-salary expenses including supplies, accounting, legal, and other miscellaneous
expenses is estimated by Management based on its experience at the Company and the experience
of other similar ARC retirement communities. Non-salary expenses are assumed by Management to
increase 3.0% annually in 2024 and throughout the remainder of the forecasted period.

The Company utilizes various management services provided by ARC. ARC collects management
service fees of 5.0% of total Company revenues, related to services, which ARC has performed on
behalf of the Company. Management fees to be paid to ARC by the Company are not reflected within
the accompanying forecasted financial statements.

Management does not anticipate an extraordinary or significant amount of uncollectible fees during
the forecasted period.

Property and Equipment

Management estimates capital additions to approximate 5.6% of annual revenue during 2024 and
5.5% for the remaining forecasted period. Such capital additions are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.

Operating Reserve Fund

The North Carolina DOl under Article 64 requires that CCRCs establish an Operating Reserve Fund in
the form of cash, investments, or other assets as permitted by the DOI, consisting of 50% of the
following year’s forecasted operating expenses until they achieve a 90% occupancy level, at which
time they are required to establish an Operating Reserve Fund consisting of 25% of the following
year’s forecasted operating expenses, which has been achieved in the past. As of the date of this
report, the Company did not achieve the 90% occupancy level and the Operating Reserve Fund is
funded at 50% of the forecasted operating costs, less certain deductions as defined by law and the
Insurance Commissioner, for a 12-month period as of the date of this report.

-12 -



Schedule IV, continued

ARCLP — CHARLOTTE, LLC d/b/a
BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE

Five Years Ending December 31, 2028
Summary of Significant Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Management’s assumed Operating Reserve Fund amounts for each year during the forecasted
period are based on projected occupancy rates below 90%, indicating an Operating Reserve Fund
equal to 50% of the forecasted annual operating expenses adjusted to include principal payments
on long-term debt, less depreciation and amortization.

Long-Term Debt

In August 2017, the Company obtained $95.8 million of mortgage financing secured by the
Community. As of December 31, 2022, sixty percent of the principal amount bore interest at a fixed
rate, with one half of such amount bearing interest at 4.43% and maturing in September 2024 and
the other one half bearing interest at 4.47% and maturing in September 2027. Forty percent of the
principal amount bore interest at a variable rate equal to the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) plus a margin of 241.5 basis points and matures in 2027. The Company's variable rate
mortgage note payable was modified to reference the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)
rather than LIBOR prospectively after the discontinuance of LIBOR in July 2023. The Company
applied the optional expedient provided by Accounting Standards Codification 848, Reference Rate
Reform, for debt contract modifications related to the discontinuation of reference rates to ease the
potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform.

In December 2023, the Company obtained a $14.3 million loan under the mortgage facility secured
by the Community. At the December 2023 closing, the Company repaid $40.1 million of debt under
the mortgage facility, using proceeds from the $14.3 million loan and cash contributions from the
Member. As of December 31, 2023, $60.5 million of mortgage debt remains outstanding under the
mortgage facility. Approximately sixty percent of the principal amount bears interest at a fixed rate,
with approximately sixty percent of such amount bearing interest at 4.47% and maturing in
September 2027 and the other forty percent bearing interest at 5.97% and maturing in January
2031. Approximately forty percent of the principal amount bears interest at a variable rate equal to
the 30-day Average SOFR plus a margin of 252.9 basis points and matures in September 2027.

Distributions to and Contributions from Member

Management assumes distributions may be made to its Member. Such distributions are assumed to
be conditional upon the Company’s compliance with all minimum Operating Reserve Fund
requirements as set forth by the DOI. Management has assumed the Company may distribute
unrestricted cash balances that exceed twenty days of operating cash on hand. Contributions from
its Member may occur to fund the Company's Operating Reserve Fund requirements, to make debt
payments on the Company's outstanding amounts including final maturity payments, and to fund
operations as needed.
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—SENIOR LIVING SOLUTIONS—

v
Q{g BROOKDALE

INDEPENDENT LIVING
RESIDENCY AND SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Residency and Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as -- --, -- by

2 ‘G 99 ¢

and between -- d/b/a -- (“Community, we” or “our”) a residential community located at -- and

-- (“Resident,” “you” or “your”). The terms and conditions of the Agreement are as follows:

I. ACCOMMODATIONS & SERVICES.

A. Accommodations.

1. Community. The Community is a licensed Continui
with independent living.

ent Community

2. Apartment. You have elected to live i e apartment noted” on Exhibit A
(“Apartment”). The Apartment contains suc ishi nd amenities as described in
the Addendum to this Agreement.

3. Common Areas You are entitled to use an , on a non-exclusive basis, the

nably interfere with its normal
and customary use by any othe o use such areas. We may eliminate,
modify or expand common areas soletdiscretion and without notice. You
acknowledge that not all commo ay be available at all times. Unavailability of
the common areas does not const breach of this Agreement.

4. Furnishings. furnish r Apartment with your own furniture, small
appliances, sp ent, and personal property, provided that our safety standards
or removing all furnishings and personal belongings

| provide meals as set forth in the Addendum to this Agreement. Other
1 delivery are available for an additional charge as listed on Exhibit X.
ed are not designed for any specific diet or dietary restrictions.

1on service is included. You are responsible for paying any other utility charges
including, but not limited to, telephone, internet charges or premium cable charges.

3. Housekeeping Service. We will provide light housekeeping in your Apartment as set
forth in the Addendum to this Agreement. Other housekeeping services are available for
an additional charge as listed on Exhibit X.

4. Laundry. We will provide laundry services and facilities as set forth in the Addendum
to this Agreement. Additional personal laundry service is available for an additional
charge as listed on Exhibit X.
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5. Grounds Keeping. We will provide grounds keeping care, including landscaping, snow
removal, external painting and outside window cleaning, as we deem appropriate.

6. Social & Wellness Programming. We will provide planned social, recreational and
wellness programs. An additional charge may apply to certain activities.

7. Transportation. We will make available scheduled transportation as set forth in the
Addendum to this Agreement. All other transportation costs, including taxi and
ambulance charges, are your responsibility.

8. Parking. You may have access to an unreserved parking space on a first-come, first-
serve basis. Additional parking will be available as set forth in the Addendum to this
Agreement.

9. Emergency Call System. Your Apartment will be equippe th an emergency call
system that can be activated to alert staff to emergencies. ent of an emergency,
you may also call local emergency personnel (police, fi ) by dialing 911.

10. Select Services. Select Services are available to yo h services may
include, but are not limited to additional meals, beyond that
which is included in the Monthly Fee or speci ents. Such additional services are not
included in the Monthly Fee. A list of t 1 ect Services as well as the
associated prices is found on Exhibit X to th

C. Change in Services. We will provide thirty (30) da itten notice of any change in the
scope of services we provide.

D. Condition and Use of Premises. mental or physical illness which makes it
medically necessary for you to be trai ssisted L1V1ng residency, Memory
Care, Health Care, or another app

d and based on the opinions of our medical staff
and in consultation wi ysician. The Community maintains a policy on
our levels of care C are\ offered. These policies serve as a guide for
¢ is necessary. Except in an emergency, a transfer
or change in 1€ ade only after consulting with you or your Legal

Representative.
TERM.

A. Rig pancy. nderstand and agree that you are not acquiring any ownership,
pement interest in your Apartment, the Community, our assets including

provided herein. Your right of occupancy is also subject to termination as
provided herein. You agree that the Community and the Apartment are in satisfactory,
habitable condition, and you accept occupancy of the Apartment in its current condition.

B. Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall be for thirteen (13) months from the date
listed in Exhibit A (“Commencement Date”) and shall continue until either party terminates
in accordance with the termination provisions stated herein (“Term”).

Residents may rescind their Agreement within thirty (30) days following the later of the
execution of their Residency Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure statement that meets
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the requirements of N.C.G.S. §58-64-20. Residents are not required to move into the
Carriage Club Providence before the expiration of the thirty (30) day rescission period.

If a resident dies before occupying a living unit at the Community, or if, on account of
illness, injury, or incapacity, is precluded from occupying a living unit at the Community
under the terms of his or her Agreement, the Agreement is automatically canceled.

For rescinded or canceled Agreements under the two paragraphs immediately above, the
resident or resident’s legal representative shall receive a refund of all money or property
transferred to the Community, less (i) Periodic charges specified in the Agreement and
applicable only to the period the Agreement is in effect; (ii) thosg, nonstandard costs
specifically incurred by the Community at the request of the reside d described in the
Agreement or any amendment to the Agreement signed by t sident; and (iii) non-
refundable fees, if set out in the contract. Such refund will tak ithin thirty (30) days
of receipt of written notification.

ITII. THIS RESIDENCY AGREEMENT WILL AUTOMAT ED FOR

IV. FEES.

A. Community Fee. A one-time non-refundable Commu e in the amount indicated in
Exhibit A must be paid at the time t is signed” The Community Fee is neither
a security deposit nor an applic ee not excuse you from financial
responsibility for any damage cau b rtment or the Community other than
reasonable wear and tear, or any othe ding fees and charges.

B. Monthly Fee. You agie lonthly Fee (“Monthly Fee”) indicated on Exhibit A.
If this Agreement i i are responsible for paying the Second Person Fee

t A. You are responsible for paying all applicable
sales and use ta y Fee, the Second Person Fee, if applicable, and any
other recurring cha cluded on the monthly statement are collectively called the “Total
Monthly Fee.”

will cease the later of the end of any applicable notice period or the removal of all of your
personal belongings.

Payment. The Total Monthly Fee, plus any applicable sales and use taxes, are due and
payable, without offset, on or before the first day of each calendar month. The Total Monthly
Fee, which shall be made payable to Brookdale Senior Living Inc., shall be mailed to the
address on the invoice or such other address as we may designate. The Total Monthly Fee
for the first month will be pro-rated if occupancy commences on a day other than the first
day of the month. We will issue a statement for any Select Services you have received during
the prior month. Payment is due within 10 days of the issuance of such invoice.
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We will charge a $250.00 late fee if payment is not received when due. We will also charge
a $50.00 returned payment fee for each check or automatic withdrawal that is returned by a
financial institution for any reason. After a financial institution returns two payments to the
Community, you must pay the Total Monthly Fee and any other amounts due by cashier’s
check or such other method specified by us. You agree to pay interest on all amounts not
paid by the due date. The interest rate will be the lesser of 1.5% per month or the highest
rate permitted by law.

F. Fee Changes. The Monthly Fee and Second Person Fee may be changed at our sole
discretion. We will give at least thirty (30) days written notice of an increase to the Monthly
Fee, Second Person Fee, and Total Monthly Fee. If you do not ac the proposed fee
changes, you may terminate this Agreement by providing writteafmotice of termination,
which termination notice must be received within thirty (30) of the date of our fee
change notice. We may increase the fees for Select Service
days prior written notice.

V. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS.

Apartment. However, you will be responsible fi
to your Apartment that are not the result of ar and tear. You agree to use
appliances provided by us only in the manner descr in the manufacturer’s instructions.
To the extent we agree to perform maintenance on yo onal property, you shall agree
to pay the cost thereof.

B. Structural and Non-Structural ay make reasonable alterations,
additions, or modifications to your A hether based on a disability or not, provided
that: (1) you obtain prior wrltten approvaldrom the Executive Director to make the specific
alterations, additions, oL inni

alterations directly i actor approved by us; and (3) you assume sole
financial responsi ges. All such changes must be in compliance with
applicable safefy an s and regulations. If you have a disability and need a
reasonable modi i a structural change to afford you equal opportunity to use and

e contact the Executive Director and he/she will review our

You agree that you will bear the cost of restoring the apartment to its
, reasonable wear and tear excepted, upon termination of this Agreement,

C. Damages. You agree to maintain your Apartment in a clean, sanitary and orderly condition,
normal wear and tear accepted. You are liable for any damages to the Apartment or any
other part of the Community that are beyond normal wear and tear or caused by the
negligence or misconduct of you or your guests (including any agent, employee, contractor,
or other invitee) including any related costs, expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees. If your
non-compliance or breach of this Agreement can be remedied by repair or replacement of a
damaged item or cleaning and you fail to remedy such non-compliance or breach as
promptly as circumstances require in the case of an emergency or, in any event, within
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fourteen (14) days after written notice from us to you specifying the non-compliance or
breach and requesting that you remedy such non-compliance or breach within that period of
time, you agree that (i) we may enter the Apartment and cause the work to be done in a
workmanlike manner and (i1) we may invoice you for the actual and reasonable cost. This
provision will survive termination of this Agreement.

D. Right of Entry. Our associates must be permitted to enter your Apartment to provide
services under the terms of this Agreement, to respond to emergencies, to make repairs and
improvements, or if there is reasonable belief that your safety or safety of others is in
question or that our policies and procedures are being violated, as we deem necessary or
advisable. Therefore, you may not change the locks or install addifiénal locks to your
Apartment’s entrance door. When feasible, our associates wi tempt to give you
reasonable notice before entering your Apartment.

E. Transfers from Apartment. If you relocate to a different a are responsible for

at our request to comply with any law or lawful orde i ic official, or
stitution, and
nd Person Fee if applicable.
ent with a substantially similar

to pay the Monthly Fee for your new Apartme
We shall make reasonable efforts to substitute
Apartment.

F. No Tenancy Interest. You have none of the rights of a under this Agreement, subject
to applicable laws of the State of --

VI. RESIDENT RESPONSIBILITIES A

ow exist or as they may be amended in our sole and
have a disability and need a reasonable accommodation (a change
qually use and enjoy your home), please contact the Executive
iew our Reasonable Accommodation/Modification Request
You understand that failure to abide by the Rules and Regulations may

¢ needs. You hereby indemnify, hold harmless and release us and our directors,
agents, and employees, from any and all liability, cost and responsibility for injury and
damage, including attorneys’ fees, arising from your failure to obtain, or from others’ failure
to furnish (excepting a corporate affiliate solely with respect to any services required to be
provided by such affiliate pursuant to a fully executed service agreement), appropriate
personal care or health care services, and from all injury and damage which could have been
avoided or reduced if such services had been obtained or furnished.

D. Obligatory Information. You agree to provide accurate, complete and current information
about yourself and about any emergency contact, including but not limited to addresses,
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phone numbers, and email address. You understand that you must promptly notity us of
changes to the information stated above. If you do not have advance directives in place, you
understand that a court may appoint a guardian to make decisions on your behalf if you are
no longer able to do so. Neither we nor any of our associates or agents may be your guardian.
If it is necessary for us to petition the court for appointment of a guardian, you agree to pay
any costs associated therein.

Motorized Vehicles and Carts. You may use a motorized vehicle, subject to the following:

1. Your ability to walk is substantially limited due to a disability;

2. Your operation of the vehicle does not pose a threat to the health
or others;

safety of yourself

The vehicle is operated at a low speed setting; and

4.  You agree to abide by our safety guidelines for the d vehicles on the

premises, which may be modified from time to ti

Reasonable accommodations will be made to the

es, policies and practices (upon a
showing of necessity) so long as the requested a i

moda does not constitute a threat

to the health or safety of you, the other resident es or visitors
You agree to pay for all damages to others or to th munity, which are caused by you
or your motorized vehicle and that we may invoi for such costs. You further

understand and agree that we may rohibit your further use of a
motorized vehicle at any time.

Guests. You may have guests overn ent, but if you desire to have guests
overnight for more than seven (7) d
esponsible for the charges incurred by and actions
of any guest. No mg ight guests may be present in your Apartment

use of the Apart
the Community, have the right to park only in the area designated by us. You may
bring guests i oom to the extent space is available, with Community residents
havi ’ . harge for guests’ meals is listed in Exhibit X. Any private duty

visitation. You understand that, where circumstances warrant, we may exclude such
individuals from the Community.

Financial Requirements. You agree that we have the right to require you to provide
financial information and to be approved by us as having sufficient assets and income to pay
the Total Monthly Fees and other charges related to occupancy. We also reserve the right to
require updated financial information prior to the effective date of this Agreement.

Joint Occupancy. If more than one Resident is residing in the Apartment, each Resident is
responsible for any payments due to us and is entitled to all the benefits and services under
this Agreement. In the event that one resident moves out, or one resident’s occupancy is
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VII. SERVICES NOT COVERED BY AGREEMENT.

A. Excluded Services. We are not responsible for fi

VIIL

otherwise terminated for whatever reason, the remaining Resident may continue to reside in
the Apartment so long as he/she pays the market rate then in effect for the Apartment as a
single occupancy. Alternatively, the remaining Resident may move to a smaller Apartment,
if available, and pay the market rate then in effect for a smaller Apartment or may find
another resident to occupy the Apartment provided such resident meets all requirements for
such occupancy in the Apartment. In these circumstances, to add a new occupant to the
Apartment, you must obtain our prior written approval and we will require such person to
sign a Residency Agreement and pay the Second Person Fee then in effect. Each potential
resident must meet all age and financial requirements before being accepted.

purposes and not
express prior written
t which is improper,

Use of Apartment. You agree to use the Apartment only for resid
for business purposes or the practice of any profession without
consent. You agree not to conduct an auction or sale in the
offensive, or contrary to law or ordinance.

ing or paying for ‘any health care
he service is not something
d an excluded service, and you

items or services not expressly included in this
that we have agreed to provide you, then it will
must furnish it at your own expense.

Third Party Providers. All outside caregivers, com , private duty aides and other
personnel employed or retained by ye i e Community (“Private Duty
Personnel”) shall be subject to the ations, and other policies, including,
without limitation, the Standards o onduct for Private Duty Personnel
Employed by Residents, available up t. If you retain or otherwise use the services

demnify and hold harmless us and our officers,
ees, contractors, representatives and agents and
om and against all losses, costs, damages and
liabilities (includin nable a fees) arising out of the acts or omissions of any
such Private D , e the right to refuse to permit certain Private Duty
he Commumty if we have reason to believe that such Private Duty
p our standards or poses a threat to residents or others. We are not
evaluating the competence or ability of any Private Duty

respg

Hiring of Associates. You may not hire our current associates to provide services in the

may contract with former associates to perform any services at the

with our consent. We reserve the right to refuse entry to (1) former

persons whose actions may be disruptive to the Community; or (3) persons
ons may threaten the safety of any resident or associate.

TERMINATION.
A. Termination by Either Party. Either party may terminate this Agreement:

1. Upon sixty (60) days advance written notice.
2. Immediately in the event of your death.

For terminations under this Section, you will be responsible for paying all amounts due under
this Agreement until the later of the expiration of the notice period, or until all of your
belongings are removed and the Apartment keys are returned to the Community.
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B. Breach by Resident. We may terminate this Agreement upon ten (10) days written notice:

1. If you are in default of payment of any amounts due under this Agreement and you fail
to cure such default within ten (10) days’ notice;

2. You violate any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement, or the Rules
and Regulations;

3. You or your guests are habitually disruptive, create unsafe conditions, are physically or
verbally abusive to other residents or individuals or otherwise impair the welfare of
yourself or others;

4. You acquire a condition or engage in conduct that interferes wi
health, safety, and/or peaceful lodging of any other individ
interferes with the performance of Community staff memb

or jeopardizes the
t the Community or

5. You engage in conduct constituting a nuisance, illegal ises, or waste;
6. You materially damage the Residence and/or prop
7. For your welfare or the welfare of others;
8. If the Community ceases to operate.
C. Immediate Termination. We may, upon written o you, immediately terminate the

2. You engage in criminal activit ' members of your household or
your guests have engaged in cri
Community;

You require emerge a hospital; or

fail to provide for your health care or personal

you are required to move for the reasons set forth in this paragraph
judgment.

ill vacate the premises, removing all of your personal property
fective date of termination. If you fail to remove your belongings by the
ination, you understand and agree that we will continue to charge you
or your Apartment. If the amount of belongings does not preclude renting
we may clear the Apartment and charge you for moving and storing the

reached and receive mail.

E. Condition of Apartment. Upon termination of the Agreement, you will leave the
Apartment in a clean and tenantable condition and in the same condition as it existed at the
beginning of the Agreement, except for reasonable wear and tear and any alterations or
additions made that we elect to retain. You agree to reimburse us for any and all costs of
restoring the Apartment to the condition existing at the beginning of your occupancy.

F. Effect of Termination. Termination will not release either party from any liability or
obligation to the other party under the terms of this Agreement.
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G. Services Pending Termination. You acknowledge and agree that, pending termination of

the Agreement due to requiring services or staff not available in the Community, we may
arrange for the provision of one-on-one care and you will pay for such care if we determine
that such care is needed to protect your health or safety or the health or safety of others

IX. AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.

SHOULD ANY OF SUBSECTIONS A & B PROVIDED BELOW, OR ANY PART THEREOF,
BE DEEMED VOID OR INVALID, THE VALIDITY OF THE REMAINING
SUBSECTIONS, OR PARTS THEREOF, WILL NOT BE AFFECTED.

A. Arbitration Proceedings.

1.

Any and all claims or controversies arising out of, or in
Agreement or any of your stays at the Community, excludi
involuntary discharge, and including disputes re
enforceability, unconscionability, waiver, preempt ability of this
Agreement, whether arising out of Local, State 1
arising in the future, whether for statutory, c
whether sounding in breach of contract, tort
irrespective of the basis for the duty or t
asserted, shall be submitted to binding indivi
shall not be filed in a court of law. The parties to
that a judge and/or jury will notdecide their cas

way relating to, this
action for eviction or

ries upon which the claim is
itration, as provided below, and
greement further understand

The parties hereby expressly ag
the Resident’s stays at the Co
stipulate that the Federal Arbi
interpretation and enforcement 0

gicement, the Admission Agreement and
S involve interstate commerce, and
ct (“FAA”) shall exclusively apply to the
Agreement, and shall preempt any inconsistent
cempted by the McCarran-Ferguson Act; United

pursuant to,\18| governed by, and must be interpreted and enforced under the Federal
Arbitration

ted class, or representation action or proceeding. Unless both you and the
Community agree otherwise in writing, the arbitrator may not consolidate or join more
than one person’s or party’s claims, and may not otherwise preside over any form of a
consolidated representative or class action or proceeding. Also, the arbitrator may
award relief (including monetary, injunctive, and declaratory relief to the same extent
as a court that would have jurisdiction over the claims in absence of this agreement to
arbitrate) only in favor of the individual party seeking relief and only to the extent
necessary to provide relief (if any) necessitated by the party’s individual claim(s). If a
court decides that applicable law precludes enforcement of any of this subparagraph’s
limitations as to a particular claim for relief, then the arbitrator will have jurisdiction

9 Rev. 04/2021



11.

12.

only over those claims (if any) to which this subparagraph may lawfully apply. Under
no circumstances whatsoever should this Section VIII be interpreted to allow for a class
or representative proceeding in arbitration. You and the Company understand, agreed,
and intend that this may result in (i) some claims being arbitrated on an individual basis
and (ii) other claims proceeding in court on a putative class or representative basis (to
the extent that operative law prohibits compelling the latter claims to individual
arbitration.

A demand for Arbitration by you, your legal representative, a person or organization
acting on your behalf with your consent, or the personal representative of your estate
(collectively “Resident Party”) shall be made in writing an bmitted to Legal
Department, Brookdale Senior Living Inc., 6737 W. Washingt . #2300, Milwaukee,
WI 53214, via certified mail, return receipt requested. De for Arbitration by us
shall be made in writing and submitted to you or your a entative, successor

The arbitration panel shall be compose (1) arbitrator. Subject to the
hall agree upon an arbitrator that
must be a member of the -- Bar with at least ten (1 s of experience as an attorney.
r within twenty (20) days of
b party will select an arbitrator. These
ng a sole arbitrator to hear the case,
fails to select their arbitrator within the (20)
forfeit their right to choose an arbitrator.

arbitrators will act only for the f
subject to the criteria above. If e

all parties, witnesses, and legal counsel. No past
nbsidiary, or employee of a party, witness, or legal
in the proceeding.

d, for the arbitration hearing and shall provide thirty (30) days’
e arbitration hearing.

hall apply the -- Rules of Evidence and -- Rules of Civil Procedure in
proceeding except where otherwise stated in this Agreement. Also, the
apply, and the arbitration decision shall be consistent with, -- law except

eir counsel within thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the arbitration. The
decision shall be in writing and shall set forth in detail the arbitrator’s findings of fact
and conclusions of law.

The arbitrator’s decision shall be final and binding and such decision may only be
vacated or modified as allowed by the Federal Arbitration Act.

The arbitrator’s fees and costs associated with the arbitration shall be divided equally
among the parties, unless the Resident Party is proven indigent or otherwise provided
for by state or federal statute or case law. The parties shall bear their own attorneys’
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fees and costs and hereby expressly waive any right to recover attorney fees or costs,
unless otherwise provided for by state or federal statute.

13. Except to the extent otherwise required by applicable law, the arbitration proceeding
shall remain confidential in all respects, including the Demand for Arbitration, all
arbitration filings, deposition transcripts, documents produced or obtained in discovery,
or other material provided by and exchanged between the parties and the arbitrator’s
findings of fact and conclusions of law. Following receipt of the arbitrator’s decision,
each party agrees to return to the producing party within thirty (30) days the original
and all copies of documents exchanged in discovery and at the arbitration hearing,
except those documents required to be retained by counsel pursuaatto law. Further, the
parties to the arbitration also agree not to discuss the amount o arbitration award or
any settlement, the names of the parties, or name/location Community except as
required by law. Notwithstanding the confidentiality nothing prohibits
Residents from reporting to local or state government

14. This Arbitration Provision binds third parties signatories t Arbitration
Provision, including any spouse, children, representatives, agents, executors,
administrators, successors, family membe rsons claiming through the
Resident, or persons claiming through the tate, whether such third parties
make a claim in a representative capacity or ersonal capacity. Any claims or
grievances against the Community or the Comm corporate parent, subsidiaries,
affiliates, employees, officers omdirectors shall a subject to and resolved in
accordance with this Arbitratio

ons, or parts thereof, will not be affected.

e the termination of this Agreement and/or your

ffer our services and accommodations at a rate that is more affordable to
the potential time-savings offered by selecting arbitration, the parties

Agreements may not contain an arbitration provision. The parties agree that the reasons
stated above are proper consideration for the acceptance of the Arbitration Provision. The
undersigned acknowledges that he or she has been encouraged to discuss this
Agreement with an attorney.

The parties to this Agreement further understand that a judge and/or a jury will not
decide their case.
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X. MISCELLANEOUS.

A. Waiver of Jury Trial. If a court determines that the Arbitration Provision provided in this
Agreement is invalid, the parties expressly waive a jury trial and agree to resolve their claims
in the appropriate court solely before a judge.

B. Risk Agreement. You are responsible for your personal, financial and health care decisions.
In addition, you are responsible for maintaining at all times your own health, personal
property, liability, automobile (if applicable), and other insurance coverages in adequate
amounts. You agree to obtain insurance with coverage for your personal property and your
general liability. You acknowledge that we are not an insurer of your person or property.
You understand and agree that:

nd social activities and
daily living, as well

1. Youmay be encouraged to participate in Community, lels
to maintain an appropriate level of independence in acti
as your personal and financial affairs;

2. Independent activities, responsibility for personal i are decisions,
and lifestyle and care preferences may involve inj d/or property
damage or loss;

3. Throughout the Community, there may b
Apartment. If you choose to use such balco do so at your own risk. We are
not responsible for any injury that may result e of a balcony. We are also not
responsible for damage or loss @ laced on a balcony;

onies and/or a balcony in your

5. We make no representations o
any other criminal act perpetra
that valuables, including but not ed to, jewelry and large amounts of money, not

bu choose to bring in such valuables, you are doing

armless for any damages or injury or other loss resulting
or omissions made in good faith; (2) action of any third party, fire,
nts; (3) loss of personal property; (4) your failure to obtain
sonal care services; (5) the failure of your chosen provider of
nal care services to furnish such services; or (6) injury and damage which
voided or reduced if health care or personal care services had been
ed. We will only be liable for damages, injuries or other losses to you or

ve the right to recover from you any loss caused by fire, vandalism or any other
acts by you or your invitees or guests. We may assign such right to our insurance carrier.

C. Smoking. Smoking is not permitted in any part of the Community, including your
Apartment. Smoking is permitted outside in designated areas.

D. Pets. You may have a household pet in your Apartment, subject to (1) our prior written
approval, (2) execution of a Pet Agreement, which is available upon request and (3)
payment of any applicable pet fee. You agree to pay for any damage to our property or the
property of others caused by your pet. We reserve the right to require the permanent
removal of your pet for failure to adhere to the Pet Agreement or our applicable policies
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and rules, or if we have reason to believe that your pet poses a threat to others or the
Community.

E. Waiver. Our failure in any instance or instances to insist upon your strict performance or
observation of or compliance with, any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, shall
not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of its right to insist upon your strict
compliance with all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

F. Remedies. In the event of any termination of this Agreement, and in addition to any other
remedies set forth in this Agreement or available at law or in equity, we may enter into an
agreement with others for occupancy of the Apartment, and you will ain obligated for
all fees, charges and other obligations incurred or accrued thrg the date of such
termination.

G. Notices. Notices, other than for arbitration, will be written a;
or mailing by regular mail, postage pre-paid to the followi
as the parties may notify each other. Notices shall be
personally delivered or upon the date postmarked.

y personal delivery

The Community:

Executive Director at Community at end of this Agreement)
H. Captions. The captions of the Sections hereof are venience only and in no way shall
limit, enlarge, define or otherwise affect the scope ent of this Agreement or any

provisions hereof.

I. Non-Discrimination. We do not di
gender or disability. We are not affiliate ' gious organization.

J.  Federal Law. Nothlng in this Agree ‘ all be construed to violate any provision of Title

K. Subordination. THis < parties’ rights under it will be subordinate to any
ground lease,
your right to re

your Apartment will not be disturbed so long as you
ovision of this Agreement Resrdent shall, within ten (10) days of

yors. This Agreement is for the benefit of and binds the parties and their
presentatives, successors and assigns.

ments. Except for our right to modify fees, rates and charges, amend services
provided and establish reasonable operating procedures and rules for the general welfare and
safety of the residents, this Agreement may be amended only in writing signed by both
parties.

0. Assignment. We may engage another person or entity to perform any or all of the services
under this Agreement.

P. Indemnification. You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless us and our officers,
directors, shareholders, affiliates, employees, representatives and agents, and their
respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns, from and against any and all
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losses, costs, damages and expenses incurred, whether in the Apartment, in any portion of
the Community or on our grounds or while in transit thereto or therefrom, or for any injury
to person or property of others, resulting from the negligence, recklessness or intentional act
or omission of you or your guests. Further, if you retain, or otherwise use, the services of
private duty aides or other third party care givers, you shall indemnify and hold harmless us
and our officers, directors, employees, contractors, representatives and agents and their
respective successors and assigns, from and against all reasonable losses, costs, damages
and liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) arising out of the acts or
omissions of any private duty aide or other third party care giver or their officers, directors,
employees, contractors, representatives and agents and their respective successors and
assigns. We are not responsible for payment or reimbursement of h care costs that you
incur resulting from the acts or omissions of any third party provi

Q. Reliance. You warrant that all information contained in the
part of the application and admission process are true and ¢
your income and assets are and will remain adequate to
this Agreement and you understand that we have reli
at the Community. All personal and other info
constitutes a material part of this Agreement an
renders this Agreement terminable at our option.

supplied by you as
in your judgment,
igations under

ired to be submitted by you
isrepresentation or omission

R. Severability. Should any part of this Agreement or t ibits be invalid, the validity of

the other parts of this Agreement or Exhibits will not be

S. Entire Agreement. This Agreem Exhibits any attachments and the
Resident Handbook constitute the e between Resident and the Community.
We are not liable for and not bound anner by any statement made by any person
representing or claiming to represent ommunity, unless those statements are expressly

s) below, you acknowledge this Agreement in its
hibits hereto and certify that they have read this entire
er with the Exhibits. You further acknowledge that you have been
is Agreement with an attorney.

Agreement in fu
encouraged to discu

e

This agreement is delivered electronically. The parties consent to entering into this agreement in
electronic form and using an electronic signature to sign this agreement. The parties also
acknowledge and agree that an electronic signature will have the same legal force and effect as a
handwritten signature.
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BY THEIR SIGNATURES, the parties or their representatives have executed this Agreement
effective as of the date set forth above.

Resident Print Name Date
Legal Representative Print Name Date

For Legal Representative’s signature, indicate legal authority: --

For Company Title

SEND NOTICES AND MONTHLY STATEMENTS TO RESIDENT IN C

Name: -

Address: - -
Phone No.: --
EXHIBITS INCLUDED:

A. Schedule of Services and Rates
Addendum for Community-Specific B

ADDITIONAL EXHIBITS:
X. Select Services Lis

Operating Policies
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EXHIBIT A
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES AND RATES
Resident(s): --
Apartment: -
Commencement Date: - -, --
Your current fees are set forth below:

I. FEES DUE ONLY AT COMMENCEMENT
Community Fee (non-refundable)

Pet Fee (non-refundable)

Total

II. FEES RECURRING ON MONTHLY
BASIS

A. Monthly Fee

B. Second Person Fee

C. Premium Parking Fee (if applicable)
Total Monthly Fees (Add A through C)

III. ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL

ON MONTHLY BASIS
$--
Total Select Service Fee $--
I agree to the above Schedfilc g s to commence as of -- --, --. [ have reviewed

Exhibit X, Select Servic
will be charged each time
agree that the Company has tf
with the applic isi

¢ services at the Community. Finally, I understand and
ht to change the rates and/or services provided herein in accordance

Print Name Date
Print Name Date

For Legal Representative’s signature, indicate legal authority: --

For Company Title Date
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EXHIBIT A
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES AND RATES
Resident(s): --
Apartment: -
Commencement Date: == -, --
Your current fees are set forth below:

I. FEES DUE ONLY AT COMMENCEMENT
Community Fee (non-refundable)

Pet Fee (non-refundable)

Total

II. FEES RECURRING ON MONTHLY
BASIS

A. Monthly Fee

B. Second Person Fee (if applicable)

C. Premium Parking Fee (if applicable)
Total Monthly Fees (Add A through C)

III. ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL
OCCURRING ON MONTHLY BA

$--
Total Select Service Fee $--
I agree to the above Schedfilc g s to commence as of -- --, --. | have reviewed

Exhibit X, Select Servic
will be charged each time
agree that the Company has tf
with the applic isi

¢ services at the Community. Finally, I understand and
ht to change the rates and/or services provided herein in accordance

Print Name Date
Print Name Date

For Legal Representative’s signature, indicate legal authority: --

For Company Title Date

STATE BUILDING NAME 1 Revised April 2021



EXHIBIT A
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES AND RATES

Resident(s): --
Apartment: -

Commencement Date: - --, --

Your current fees are set forth below:
I. FEES DUE ONLY AT COMMENCEMENT
Community Fee (non-refundable)
Pet Fee (non-refundable)

Total

II. FEES RECURRING ON MONTHLY
BASIS

A. Monthly Fee

B. Second Person Fee (if applicable)

C. Premium Parking Fee (if applicable)
Total Monthly Fees (Add A through C)

ITI. ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL F
OCCURRING ON MONTHLY BAS

I agree to the above Schedfilc g s to commence as of -- --, --. | have reviewed
Exhibit X, Select Servic i

will be charged each time
and agree that the Compan
accordance wit icable p

icse services at the Community. Finally, I understand
the right to change the rates and/or services provided herein in
isions of the Residency Agreement.

Print Name Date

Print Name Date

For Legal Representative’s signature, indicate legal authority: --

For Company Title Date

STATE BUILDING NAME 1 Revised July 2018



ATTACHMENT
3



% BROOKDALE
@/ —SENIOR LIVING SOLUTIONS —

RESIDENCY AGREEMENT
This Agreement (“Agreement”) dated -- --, -- is made by and between -- d/b/a -- (the “Company,”

13 9 <6

us,” “we” or “our”) -- and -- (“Resident,

2% ¢e

you” or “your”).

the State of -- as
alf. The terms and

We operate the community located at -- (the “Community”) which is licensed
a/an -- and residency in the Community has been requested by you or on your
conditions of this Agreement are as follows:

I. SERVICES AND ACCOMMOD

¢ Accommodations — You have elected to live i i ribed in Exhibit A. You are
also entitled to access, along with all other resi

operty; however, we reserve the
right to limit the number and type of furnishings/s pliances. You agree that you are
1 belongings you bring to the

Community.

¢ Dining Services — Unless othe c ddendum for Community-Specific
Basic Services and Operating Poli€ies, v ill furnish three meals daily. Snacks are
available 24 hours a day.

nen Service — We will launder your personal belongings and bed linens
Y the Addendum for Community-Specific Basic Services and Operating

es Program — We will provide planned social and recreational programs.

¢ Parking — Each Unit (whether occupied by one or two Residents) will have access to shared
and uncovered parking spaces on a first come, first served basis. Covered parking may be
available as set forth in the Addendum for Community-Specific Basic Services and
Operating Policies.

¢ Transportation — We will make available scheduled routine transportation services as
described in the Addendum for Community-Specific Basic Services and Operating
Policies.

NORTH CAROLINA
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¢ Staffing 24 hours a day — Associates are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

¢ Wellness Assessments — We will provide limited periodic wellness assessments to help
you monitor your physical health.

We will provide thirty (30) days written notice of any change in Basic Services.

B. PERSONAL SERVICE PLAN. Prior to moving in and periodically throughout your
residency, we will use a personal service assessment to determine the personal services you
require. The personal service assessment will be used to develop your Personal Service Plan.
The results of the assessment and the cost of providing the additional onal services (the
“Personal Service Rate””) will be shared with you. Your initial Per Service Rate is set

forth in Exhibit A.

If you qualify for Medicaid services, you may receive some personal services
through Medicaid’s Personal Care Services (“PCS”) Progra Medicaid does
not necessarily mean that you will qualify to receive M edicaid PCS
program will meet all of your personal service negds. If you are Medicaid eligible but
Medicaid determines that you do not qualify for 1 services or you only qualify
for a limited number of Medicaid PCS services, t ty may determine, based on its
personal services assessment, that you require perso 1ces not provided by the Medicaid
PCS program.

t personal services that are not
for the personal service charges for
ervice Rate set forth in Exhibit A.

If the Community’s personal service 3
covered by Medicaid are required, yo
such uncovered services in accordancs

ate for uncovered personal services can be
e after a personal service assessment has been
ommunity that you require personal services that

You understand that the Personal S
implemented by the Comumausnity at any
provided and it has beg ined by t

nal Service Plan is specific to the care and services provided to
he care and services collectively provided to other residents in

care, services, and staffing offered, and any such warranties and
expressly disclaimed. We will make good faith efforts to provide the
indicated in your Personal Service Plan. However, due to unforeseen
pur care and services may be provided at a different time or in a
than indicated in your Personal Service Plan. You further understand

C. AVAILABLE SELECT AND THERAPEUTIC SERVICES. Select Services and
Therapeutic Services are available to you at your request. Such additional services are not
included in the Basic Service Rate or the Personal Service Rate. Where available, such
services may include, but are not limited to guest meals, transportation beyond that which is
included in the Basic Service Rate, transportation escort services, enhanced cable television,
special events or certain clinical services. The available Select Services and Therapeutic

NORTH CAROLINA
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Services as well as the associated prices are found on Exhibit X and Exhibit Y to this
Agreement.

D. SERVICES NOT COVERED BY RESIDENCY AGREEMENT. In addition to any Select
or Therapeutic Services you may receive, in some circumstances, you may need the services
of other third party providers in order to continue to safely remain at the Community. An
outside agency or individual will be permitted to provide these services or any related personal
services only if we have given prior approval.

services, whether
care and medical
0, pharmacy, therapy,
anion, beauty/barber

You are responsible for obtaining and paying for all third party provid
provided by Company affiliates, our subcontractors, third party he
providers, or others. These services may include, but are not limi
podiatry, dentistry, ophthalmology, home health, hospice, priva

or other health care services. These third party provider servi luded in the Basic
Service Rate, Personal Service Rate or rates for Select Se eutic Services.
Fees for such services will be billed to you directly by t vider, unless
otherwise agreed to by the parties. All third party ser ut not limited
to, health care service providers) must agree to a ndards for outside providers

prior to being permitted to provide services in the

You may not hire our current associates to provide
contract with former associates to perform any servic
consent. We reserve the right to r
actions may be disruptive to the Co
safety of any resident or associate.

es in the Community. You may
e Community only with our
associates; (2) persons whose
ons whose actions may threaten the

We may participate in clinical educatio
students experience in clinieal practice
students in these clin 1
including, where 3
program’s clinica

ams with area colleges and universities to give
senior housing setting. You agree to permit the
ams to observe and participate in your care,

@ie to choose not to be observed or cared for by the students.

DNSIBILITIES AND REPRESENTATIONS.

¢ that the Community and the Unit are in satisfactory, habitable
e made no promise to decorate, alter or improve the Community or Unit
ided in writing and attached as part of this Agreement. You agree to

wear and tear. You agree to pay all damages, beyond normal wear and tear,
ding your agent, employee, contractor, or other invitee) cause to our property.

We may mwvoice you for the cost of such repairs.

B. ALTERATIONS. You may make reasonable alterations, additions or modifications to your
Unit whether based on a disability or not, provided that: (1) you obtain prior approval from
the Executive Director to make the specific alterations, additions, or modifications and
(2) these changes are performed by a contractor that we approve. You may also be financially
responsible for modifications or changes to your Unit, depending on the need for the
modification and the change(s), including restoring your Unit to its original condition, absent
reasonable wear and tear, upon termination of the Agreement. All such modifications and
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changes must be in compliance with applicable safety and government codes and regulations.
If you have a disability and need a reasonable modification, please contact the Executive
Director and he/she will review our Reasonable Accommodation/Modification Request
process with you. We may enter and make any modifications or alterations to your Unit to
meet the requirements of any applicable law.

C. RIGHT OF ENTRY. For your safety and comfort, our associates must be permitted to enter
your Unit to provide services under the terms of this Agreement, to respond to emergencies,
to make repairs and improvements, or if there is reasonable belief that your safety or the safety
of others is in question or that our policies and procedures are being yidlated, as we deem
necessary or advisable. Therefore, it is not permissible to change thedlocks or add additional
locks to the entrance door to your Unit. When feasible, our ass s will attempt to give
you reasonable notice before entering your Unit.

We reserve the right to relocate you to a more appropriat
required for your health or safety, or because the
incompatible.

D. HEALTH ASSESSMENT. The Community wi
the criteria established from time to time by §§ 131
and Chapter 13, Subchapter 13F, Title 10A of the
Adult Care Homes.

Community as
jon Unit are

nd retain residents who meet
orth Carolina General Statutes
arolina Administrative Code, for

You agree that we may assess your hé pdate a Personal Service Plan and/or
to determine whether you are approp
(30) days prior to the date of this Ag
request, you agree to underg on by your physician (or other licensed provider
amination by a particular specialist, at your cost,
as we determine is t physical or mental status. You will request the
examiner to pro endations, including a statement attesting to the
appropriateness Of Ve acement. Based upon the assessment(s) and our
judgment, we may d nine your appropriateness to remain in the Community. You will

request the exa

edicaid and it is determined that an independent assessment by the
its contractor is required to determine whether you are eligible to receive
ces, you agree that the Medicaid agency or its contractors may assess your
ine if you qualify for the Medicaid PCS program. You agree to undergo

caid eligible. Should the Medicaid program determine that you are not eligible to
receive PCS services, the Community will conduct a health assessment as specified above to
determine whether or not you meet the criteria established for continued admission as set forth
in §131 D-2 of the North Carolina General Statutes in Chapter 13 Subchapter 13F and Chapter
13, Subchapter F Title 10A of the North Carolina Administrative Code.

E. HEALTH CARE PROVIDER NOTIFICATION. You authorize us to contact your legal
representative/family, health care providers, and/or other persons listed in your records (1) if
it is necessary in our judgment to advise them of your situation; (2) to arrange for required

health care services and other assistance; or (3) in case of an emergency.
NORTH CAROLINA
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If your designated health care providers are unavailable, you authorize us to arrange for the
services of other health care providers. You agree we may provide such persons with copies
of your records, including, but not limited to, resident records, advance directives, living will,
and the names of persons empowered to make health care decisions.

F. SUBSTITUTE DECISION MAKERS/ADVANCE DIRECTIVES. You will provide us
with accurate, complete and current information about yourself, substitute decision-makers
and health care providers, including but not limited to addresses and phone numbers, and your
health care status and needs. You will provide us with copies of any power of attorney,
guardianship, living will, or conservator documents, or other legal docufilents relating to the
making of health or financial decisions or decision-makers. You a ize us to rely on the
instructions of such designees or appointees or on the inst s found within such
documents. You further agree to immediately notify us of cha to the information
stated above.

In the event of hospitalization, you understand that fo i er form must
be provided to the Community by the hospital prior t issi

incapacitated. If you do not have such advance dire ifi place, you understand that a court
may name a guardian upon application of any inte party (including the Company).
Nelther we nor any of our assoc1ates or agents may bey rdian. If it is necessary for us

G. MOTORIZED VEHICLES AND C
scooters, wheelchairs, or carts and sim cles may be used, subject to the following:

as the requested accommodation does not constitute a threat to the health
> other residents, our associates or visitors.

ed vehicle and that we may invoice you for such costs. You further understand
and agree that we may, at our sole discretion, prohibit your further use of an electric scooter
or similar vehicle at any time.

H. EXAMINATION OF RECORDS. You acknowledge that we are licensed by the State of -
- as an --. You understand that regulatory officials having jurisdiction over the Community
may inspect your records as part of an evaluation of the Community. You have the right to
review and access your health care records in accordance with the requirements of applicable
law.
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I. RULE AND REGULATION COMPLIANCE. You understand that the Community has
shared common areas, and you agree to honor all rules of courtesy and respect for others. You
agree to abide by and conform to our rules, regulations, handbook, policies and procedures as
they now exist and as amended from time-to-time. If you have a disability and need a
reasonable accommodation (a change in our rules or policies to equally use and enjoy your
home), please contact the Executive Director and he/she will review our Reasonable
Accommodation/Modification Request process with you. You understand that failure to abide
by such policies may result in your discharge from the Community.

J. GUESTS. You have the right to associate with your friends and fa
hours. Because the Community is a licensed building, overnight
permitted in a resident’s room. Limited exceptions may be grante
based upon the circumstances.

during reasonable
ts are generally not
the Executive Director

You acknowledge and understand that your guests are subject to our
and if your guests become disruptive to the operations
or physically abusive to residents, our associates or o
Community until their behavior is under contrg
circumstances warrant, we may exclude such indi

K. RELEASE OF INFORMATION. We will keep y.
information that identifies you (collectively, “Res1dent D
applicable law. You agree that we
treatment, to provide to you services
obtain payment for our Services, in ¢
management and quality assessment 2

nd regulations,
are verbally
s, we may request that they leave the
ict their visitation. Where
the Community.

Ith, medical, personal and other
onfidential in compliance with
esident Data for purposes of
Aoreement (collectively “Services”™), to

ted by law.

L. PHOTOGRAPHS.
identification and/,

to photograph or videotape you as a means of
irposes, to help locate you in the event of an

S. You acknowledge and agree that we may arrange for the
e and you will pay for such care if we determine that such care is
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III. RATES.

A. COMMUNITY FEE. In addition to the Monthly Service Rate, and other charges described
herein, you will incur a Community Fee as listed on Exhibit A. This Community Fee covers
expenses related to your assessment to determine your care and services, assistance with
coordination of the move-in, staff time for orientation to the Community, and other services
provided under the Community’s licensure except for those included in the Monthly Service
Rate. This fee offsets some of these and other non-recurring costs and, unless prohibited by
state law, is non-refundable. The Community Fee does not include any expenses related to

the maintenance, repair, or enhancement of the Community’s Units an mon areas
B. MONTHLY SERVICE RATE.
1. Rate. You agree to pay the Basic Service Rate and, if applic rsonal Service Rate

as indicated in Exhibit A (together the “Monthly Service

If you are Medicaid eligible and it is determined tha i he Medicaid
PCS program, you agree to pay the Personal Se s Rate if applicable®as indicated in
Exhibit A.

2. Refund. In accordance with Section IV, we w
Service Rate if this Agreement is terminated befor

a prorated share of the Monthly
d of a month:

a. following fourteen (14) days wzitten notice;

b. because you require care that
c. by reason of death.

Refunds will be prorated (usmg 30. o calculate the Daily Rate) from the later of the
termination date or th ou have vacated and all of your belongings are
removed from C 1 be issued in the name of Resident, Resident’s

In/Sign Out Book upon exiting and re-entering the Community. We
ibility or liability for your welfare during times that you are away from

Agreement will remain effective and you will be charged the full Monthly Service Rate. If
you provide written notice of your intent to terminate the Agreement pursuant to Section
IV, termination will be effective and charges will cease the later of the end of any applicable
notice period or the removal of all of your personal belongings.

D. SELECT & THERAPEUTIC SERVICES. In addition to the Monthly Service Rate, you
agree to pay the established charges for any Select Services or Therapeutic Services provided
to you by us.
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E. PAYMENT.

1. General. We will issue a monthly statement before the first day of the month itemizing
the Monthly Service Rate for the upcoming month and, if any, charges incurred for
Select Services and Therapeutic Services provided during the prior month. Payment
for all charges shown on the statement is due on the first (1%") calendar day of each
month.

2. First Payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, your first payment is to be paid at the
time this Agreement is signed.

(1) If you take financial possession of Your Unit on or bef
month, you are responsible to pay the applicable Comm
Service Rate prorated (using 30.5 days to calculate
number of days remaining in the current mo
possession.

(2) If you take financial possession of Your Uni
are responsible to pay the applicable Co nity Fee, the Monthly Service Rate
prorated (using 30.5 days to calculate t o reflect the number of days
remaining in the current month from financial possession, and the
Monthly Service Rate for your first full f residency.

e 15" day of the

Fee and the Monthly
ily Rate) to reflect the
date of financial

due. We w111 also charge a $ e for each check or automatic
withdrawal that is returned or\de gason. After two such occurrences, you

F. RATE CHANGES. W i itty(30) days written notice of any change in the rates
or pricing method i i

ge in the Personal Service Plan when we determine
additional service ested or required. The new Personal Service Rate resulting
onal Service Plan is effective immediately after written notice

CY. If more than one resident is residing in the Unit, each resident is
yayments due to us and is entitled to all the benefits and services under
eement. In the event that one resident moves out, or one resident’s
ise terminated for whatever reason, the remaining resident may continue

available, and pay the market rate then in effect for a smaller unit or may find another resident
to occupy the Unit provided such resident meets all requirements for such occupancy in the
Unit. In these circumstances, to add a new occupant to the Unit, you must obtain our prior
written approval and we will require such person to sign a Residency Agreement and pay the
Second Person Fee then in effect. Each potential resident must meet all age and financial
requirements before being accepted.
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IV.  TERM AND TERMINATION.

A. TERM. This Agreement begins on the date set forth above and continues until terminated as
provided below.

B. TERMINATION BY RESIDENT. You may terminate this Agreement upon fourteen (14)
days written notice to us. Termination occurs on the later of the end of the notice period or
upon the removal of all of your personal belongings.

C. TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY. We may terminate this Agreement, upon providing
you thirty (30) days written notice, for any of the following events, as ined by us:

annot be met in the
nurse practitioner.

1. The discharge is necessary for your welfare and your nee
Community as documented by your physician, physician assi

provided by the

2. Your health has improved sufficiently so you no longer
i ractitioner.

Community as documented by your physician, physi

3. The safety of other individuals in the Community

4. The health of other individuals in the Com ity i ngered as documented by a
physician, physician assistant or nurse practiti

by the payment due date after
to pay.

5. Failure to pay the cost of services and accommo
receiving written notice of warning of discharge for

6. The discharge or transfer is mand

We may, upon written notice to you,
are reasons that would endanger the health and
'y requires your immediate transfer, we will notify
al. We will provide a written explanation for
otice.

e Community.
Care. If you must relocate due to your need for a higher level of care,
¢ fourteen (14) days written notice to us. We may request a physician to
g that based upon his/her examination you must be relocated to a facility

which all of your personal belongings are removed from the Community.

E. COMMUNITY CEASES TO OPERATE. If our license is revoked or we otherwise cease
to operate, this Agreement shall terminate upon written notice from the Community on the
date as stated in the notice. Any advance payment for services not received shall be refunded
to the Resident.

F. RESPONSIBILITIES UPON TERMINATION. You will vacate the premises, removing
all belongings on or before the effective date of termination. If you fail to remove your
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belongings by the effective date of termination, you understand and agree that we may
continue to charge you for the Basic Service Rate of your Unit, or have your belongings placed
in storage at your cost. You further agree that we may donate any unclaimed property after
forty-five (45) days. You will provide written notice of a forwarding address where you can
be reached and receive mail. Termination will not release you or us from any liability or
obligation to the other party under the terms of this Agreement.

Should

V. AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.
any of sub-sections A & B provided below, or any part thereof, b

emed void or invalid,

Any and all claims or controversies arising out ofgor in any ating to, this
Agreement or any of your stays at the Communit r involuntary
transfer or discharge or eviction, and includin putes regarding interpretation, scope,
enforceability, unconscionability, waiver, and/or violability of this
Agreement, whether arising out of local, state, law, whether existing or arising

punitive damages and whether
sounding in breach of contract, tort or breach of statut ties, or otherwise, irrespective
of the basis for the duty or the 1 eries upon whieh'the claim is asserted, shall be
submitted to binding individual a ided below, and shall not be filed in a
court of law. The parties to this er understand that a judge and/or
jury will not decide their case.

The parties hereby ¢e that this Arbitration Provision, the Residency
Agreement and thé'l ’ the Community substantially involve interstate
commerce, and ) Arbitration Act (“FAA”) shall exclusively apply
to the inte ) ent of this Agreement, and shall preempt any
inconsistent Sta yand shall not be reverse preempted by the McCarran-Ferguson Act;
United States 15, Chapter 20, or other law. Any party who demands arbitration
mus y o1 controversies that are known, or reasonably should have been
demand for arbitration, and if learned of during the course of
pceeding shall amend the claims or controversies to reflect the same. All

erwise stated explicitly herein, this Arbitration Provision is entered into
is governed by, and must be interpreted and enforced under the Federal
on Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.

You and the Company agree that each of us may bring claims against the other only
on an individual basis and not as a named or putative class member in any purported
class, or representation action or proceeding. Unless both you and the Company agree
otherwise in writing, the arbitrator may not consolidate or join more than one person’s or
party’s claims, and may not otherwise preside over any form of a consolidated
representative or class action or proceeding. Also, the arbitrator may award relief
(including monetary, injunctive, and declaratory relief to the same extent as a court that
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would have jurisdiction over the claims in absence of this agreement to arbitrate) only in
favor of the individual party seeking relief and only to the extent necessary to provide
relief (if any) necessitated by the party’s individual claim(s). If a court decides that
applicable law precludes enforcement of any of this subparagraph’s limitations as to a
particular claim for relief, then the arbitrator will have jurisdiction only over those claims
(if any) to which this subparagraph may lawfully apply. Under no circumstances
whatsoever should this Section V be interpreted to allow for a class or representative
proceeding in arbitration. You and the Company understand, agreed, and intend that this
may result in (i) some claims being arbitrated on an individual basis and (ii) other claims
proceeding in court on a putative class or representative basis (to th€€xtent that operative
law prohibits compelling the latter claims to individual arbitrati

A demand for arbitration by you, your legal representative, organization acting
on your behalf with your consent, or the personal represe tate (collectively

“Resident Party”) shall be made in writing and submi nt, Brookdale
Senior Living Inc., 111 Westwood Place, Brentwo d mail, return
receipt requested. A demand for arbitration by de in writing and submitted
to you or your agent, representative, success i d/or your legal representative

via certified mail, return receipt requested.

The arbitration panel shall be compos - bitrator. Subject to the requirements
of section A.7, the parties shall ag nen an arbitrator that must be a member of the --
Bar with at least ten (10 nce as an attorney. If the parties cannot reach an
agreement on an arbi (20) days of receipt of the demand for arbitration,
These arbitrators will act only for the purpose of
case, subject to the criteria above. If either party
e (20) days mentioned above, they effectively forfeit

affiliate, subsidiary, or employee of a party, witness, or legal
e as an arbitrator in the proceeding.

arbitration proceeding except where otherwise stated in this Agreement. Also, the
arbitrator shall apply, and the arbitration decision shall be consistent with, -- law except
as otherwise stated in this Arbitration Provision.

The arbitration decision should be signed by the arbitrator and delivered to the parties and
their counsel within thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the arbitration. The
decision shall be in writing and shall set forth in detail the arbitrator’s findings of fact and
conclusions of law.
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11. The arbitrator’s decision shall be final and binding and such decision may only be vacated
or modified as allowed by the Federal Arbitration Act.

12. The arbitrator’s fees and costs associated with the arbitration shall be divided equally
among the parties, unless the Resident is proven indigent or otherwise provided for by
state or federal statute or case law. The parties shall bear their own attorneys’ fees and
costs and hereby expressly waive any right to recover attorney fees or costs, unless
otherwise provided for by state or federal statute.

13. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, the arbitration procgeding shall remain
confidential in all respects, including the demand for arbitration arbitration filings,
deposition transcripts, documents produced or obtained in disgdvery, or other material
provided by and exchanged between the parties and the arbj findings of fact and
conclusions of law. Following receipt of the arbitrator’s is ch party agrees to
return to the producing party within thirty (30) days igi all copies of
documents exchanged in discovery and at the arbitrati e documents
required to be retained by counsel pursuant to | urther, the parties t0 the arbitration
also agree not to discuss the amount of the arbj
of the parties, or name/location of the
Notwithstanding the confidentiality agreemen ing prohibits the parties from
reporting to local or state governments.

14. This Arbitration Provision binds tk
including any spouse, children,
successors, family members, or ot

s to this Arbitration Provision,
agents, executors, administrators,
g through the Resident, or persons

apacity. Any claims or grievances against the
Company or the Con arent, subsidiaries, affiliates, employees, officers
or directors sha d resolved in accordance with this Arbitration
Provision.

ed in Section V(A)(3), the terms of this Arbitration Provision are
ould any part of V(A) through V(B) be deemed void, invalid, or

15. Except as othe
severable, such
unenfe e

the

viability, and insurability of a long term care company for the elderly and disabled in --, by
limiting such company’s exposure to liability. With this Agreement, we are better able to offer
our services and accommodations at a rate that is more affordable to you. In terms of the
potential time-savings offered by selecting arbitration, the parties recognize that selecting a
quick method of resolution is potentially to a resident’s advantage.

You and/or your legal representative understand that other long term care companies’

Agreements may not contain an arbitration provision. The parties agree that the reasons stated

above are proper consideration for the acceptance of the Arbitration Provision. The
NORTH CAROLINA
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undersigned acknowledges that he or she has been encouraged to discuss this Agreement
with an attorney.

The parties to this Agreement further understand that a judge and/or a jury will not
decide their case.

VI. MISCELLANEOUS.

A. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. If a court determines that the Arbitratio
above is invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the parties express
jury trial and resolve any claims in the appropriate court solely beft

B. CLASS ACTION WAIVER. If a court determines that the
above is void, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, yo
understand and agree that any complaint or dispute resulting in civil judi ceedings must

rovision provided
r desire to waive a
judge.

Provision provided

with us in the form of a class action or represe i ith respect to any claims or

us and our affiliated entities harmless frem any losses, liab damages, and other expenses
brought against us and/or an affiliated e mdividual arising, directly or indirectly, from
your alleged negligent acts and/or ’
omissions of a third-party acting on yo
be limited to, your failure to safely utiliz
to follow prescribed care and, services, your third-party’s failure to provide proper care and

ation of any applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation. A request
mmodation or reasonable modification for a resident shall be submitted

regulation will jeopardize the Company’s ability to receive supportive services from the
County Department of Social Services and State-County Special Assistance for Adults.

E. ANTI-HARASSMENT. No resident, family member, guest, or anyone visiting the
Community on behalf of a resident shall engage in conduct that may viewed as harassing,
abusive, intimidating, derogatory, or otherwise unacceptable whether it be verbal, physical,
or sexual in nature. We are committed to promptly reviewing complaints of harassing,
abusive, intimidating or derogatory behavior or conduct of any kind and taking appropriate
remedial action, as necessary. Engaging in such conduct may result in termination of this
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Agreement, revocation of visiting privileges, or any other recourse deemed appropriate and in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

F. RISK AGREEMENT. You are responsible for your personal, financial and health care

decisions. You are also responsible for maintaining health, personal property, liability,
automobile (if applicable), and other insurance coverages in adequate amounts. You agree to
obtain insurance in an amount adequate to cover your personal property and your general
liability. You acknowledge that we do not insure your person or property. You understand

and
1.

agree that:

al activities and to

We may encourage you to participate in community, leisure, and
ilyliving, as well as your

maintain an appropriate level of independence in activities of d
personal and financial affairs;

Independent activities, responsibility for personal, financi re decisions, and
lifestyle and care preferences may involve risks of per inj perty damage
or loss;

care, assistance or supervision, €.§
response to non-emergent needs.
you will be left alone, unsupervised
reading, and sleeping at night;

and long periods of time in which
hlle watching television, listening to music,

tations or guarantees that we can always prevent a resident from wandering or
attempting to wander from the Community, entering into a private area, misplacing or
losing items or engaging in physical contact with another resident;

We make no representations or guarantees that we can prevent the loss of personal items,
including but not limited to clothing, jewelry, dentures, hearing aides or other medical
equipment. We will not be responsible for the loss of such items. We make no
representations or guarantees that we can prevent theft or other criminal acts perpetrated
by another resident or person; therefore, we recommend that valuables such as jewelry
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and large sums of money, not be kept at the Community. If you choose to bring in
valuables, you do so at your own risk and we will not be held responsible for any theft or
loss of such items;

10. Due to state regulations and fire code, we may not lock our exterior doors against exiting.
Therefore, we cannot guarantee that a resident will not wander from the Community.
Some buildings have exterior doors that are alarmed with a delayed egress feature and our
systems are designed to alert our associates to respond and assist a resident if they wander
from the building.

11. Living in a congregate setting may increase your chance for expo
of a communicable disease. You agree to report symptom
communicable disease to us. In the event of a pandemic or a

to and contracting
a new diagnosis of
ak of communicable
11 as restrictions or
measures mandated by us. Subject to regulatory req restrictions or
measures may include but are not limited to social di e, temporary
relocation to another room or community, testing , restriction of
other services and amenities.

this Agreement. You agree to
ges, injury or other loss resulting
from: (1) reasonable acts or omissions made in good 2) action by a third party, fire,

G. PETS. Our pet policy is described in\the C ommunity-Specific Basic Services
and Operating Policies.

H. SMOKING. Except as otherwise set
Services and Operating P

I. INTERRUPTIO
failure to maintai
Agreement if it re
to, strikes, lockouts O
labor or_smaten: i

the Addendum for Community-Specific Basic
not permitted in any part of the Community.

ption of services, modifications to services or

ond our reasonable control, including, but not limited
er labor disturbances, government orders, embargoes, shortages of
weather, fire, flood, hurricane, earthquake, pandemic, other
ts. We shall, in any such event, use our best efforts to sustain
provide substitute services.

OCATION/USE OF UNIT. You acknowledge and agree that in the

o regulatory requirements, you agree that you may be temporarily relocated from
your Unit either to another unit in the Community or to an outside location. You further agree
that your Unit may be utilized in a temporary manner to house other residents, employees,
officials, or other persons.

K. WEAPONS. Weapons, as defined by us, are not allowed in the Community or on Community
property. This includes but is not limited to firearms, explosive materials, ammunition, and
collectible or antique weapons.
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L. NO TENANCY INTEREST. You have none of the rights of a tenant under this Agreement,
subject to applicable state law.

M. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement is not assignable without our prior written consent. Our
rights and obligations may be assigned to any person or entity which will be responsible to
ensure our obligations under this Agreement are satisfied in full from the date of notification.
We may engage another person or entity to perform any or all of the services under this
Agreement.

N. AMENDMENTS. This Agreement and any written amendments ¢
agreement between the parties and supersede all prior and contem
representations, correspondence, and agreements whether oral or wri
to modify fees, rates and charges, amend services provide
reasonable operating procedures and rules for the general we

stitute the entire
neous discussions,
. Except for our right

0.

P. SUBORDINATION. This Agreement and the pa hts hereunder are subordinate to
any lease, mortgage or deed of trust placed upon the Co ity, but you may remain in your
Unit so long as you comply with the pre

Q. REPRESENTATION AND WARR ting this Agreement you represent and
warrant that all representations made B alf, whether written or verbal, with
respect to your application for admis e Commumty were true when made. You
understand that we rely upon the truth §s of this information in making our decision to
enter into this Agreemen . forms, including personal data forms, statement
of financial conditioz istory and medical reports submitted by you or

i ated by reference into this Agreement and made an express
any material misrepresentation or omission made by
nnectlon w1th these documents shall make this Agreement voidable

R. dyice of providers for your health care services not otherwise

art of the complement of services offered by the Company, its affiliates,
which Company or Company’s parent entity has an ownership interest
therapy, rehabilitation, home health, hospice or other services may be
ommunity through such affiliates or Other Entities. If you require such

S. OBLIGATORY INFORMATION. You agree to provide accurate, complete and current
information about yourself and about any emergency contact, including but not limited to
addresses, phone numbers, and email address. You understand that you must promptly notify
us of changes to the information stated above. If you do not have advance directives in place,
you understand that a court may appoint a guardian to make decisions on your behalf if you
are no longer able to do so. Neither we nor any of our associates or agents may be your
guardian. If it is necessary for us to petition the court for appointment of a guardian, you agree
to pay any costs associated therein.
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T. ASSIGNMENT OF BENEFITS. To the extent that we participate in a government payor
program (e.g. Medicaid, PACE, or Medicare) of which you may be a beneficiary, you
authorize us to disclose any medical or administrative information to such government
program to process your application for benefits. You certify that the information given in
applying for such government benefits is correct. You further authorize the release of all
medical and administrative records for such government payor to process any claims for
payment and further direct that payment of authorized benefits be made to us on your behalf.
For all other insurance programs, you authorize us to disclose any medical or administrative
information required for the insurance carrier to process (1) your appligation for insurance
benefits coverage and (2) your claims for payment for services re d by us. You are
required to file with the insurance carrier any applications for benefifs’or claims for payment.
While you may authorize direct payment of any applicable i benefits to us, you

urred during your

stay.

U. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be execut
of which shall be deemed an original.

V. NOTICES. Notices will be written and given by
postage pre-paid to the following or such other per
each other. Notices shall be deemed given based upon
the date postmarked.

erparts, each

ery or mailing by regular mail,
places as the parties may notify
te personally delivered or upon

Company:
Executive Director at Community munity)
(At the Community)
egal Representative/Responsible Party:
(as noted below)

We believe it is import
accordance with the
understanding of this Ag

services and fees to the best of our ability and in
that you consult with legal counsel to ensure
ent before signing.

e

This Agreement is delivered electronically. The parties consent to entering into this Agreement
in electronic form and using an electronic signature to sign this Agreement. The parties also
acknowledge and agree that an electronic signature will have the same legal force and effect as
a handwritten signature.

ES, the parties or their representatives have executed this Agreement.

NORTH CAROLINA

Rev. 12/2023



Resident Print Name Date
Legal Representative Print Name Date

For Legal Representative signature, indicate legal authority: --

For Company Title

OTHER RELATED MATERIALS:

1. Resident Bill of Rights

2. Community Handbook

3. Emergency Evacuation Plan

4. Admissions Package

5. Medical Records Release (if additional permission is r under state law or necessary to
address a use or disclosure not covered by Section I(K))

6. Personal Service Assessment

7. Personalized Service Plan

ATTACHMENTS INCLUDED
Addendum for Community-Specific Basic Se
Statement of Financial Responsibilit
Exhibit A - Schedule of Service
Exhibit B - Pharmacy Servie€s

d Operating Policies

ADDITIONAL EXHIB
X. Select Services List
Y. Therapeutlc Senvice

PART OF THE AGREEMENT:

VE NAME AND ADDRESS:
Name:
Address:
Phone Nos.:

Email: -
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EXHIBIT A
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES AND RATES

Resident -
Unit Number -

COMMUNITY FEE (Prior to Move-in) $--

SPECIAL ASSISTANCE/MEDICAID $--
If your Special Assistance/Medicaid application is denied, your Basic Servi
then current Basic Service Rate for such Unit. In addition, you will be
Rate in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Residency A

ate will adjust to the
ed a Personal Service
BASIC SERVICE RATE

SECOND PERSON FEE
(Check below if applicable)

-- | If this box is checked, you are the second occupant in the sted above and you will be charged

the Second Person Fee. If the Unit converts to single ancy and you are the primary

occupant, you will be charged the then cusren sic Service Rate.
PERSONAL SERVICE RATE $--
(The current Personal Service Price Schedule
(See attached Personal Service Rate Report)
MONTHLY SERVICE RA $--
(Add Basic Service Rate, Sg€o
and Personal Service R
SELECT SERVICES A ERAPEUTIC SERVICES $--*
(The Select Service List and Therapeutlc Se ist are attached as Exhibits X and Y)
* Amount varies based
I agree togthe 1le of Services and Rates to commence as of -- --, --. I have reviewed
Exhibi ices List, and Exhibit Y, Therapeutic Services List, and the associated rates for
the serv i i agree that I will be charged each time I utilize one of these services at
the Co i understand and agree that the Company has the right to change the rates

and/or servi ¢d herein in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Residency

Agreement.

Resident Print Name Date
Legal Representative Print Name Date

For Legal Representative signature, indicate legal authority: --
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence

Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon)
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LBMC

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Member of
ARCLP — Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence:

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of ARCLP — Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club
Providence (the “Company”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related
statements of operations, changes in member’s equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of ARCLP — Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based on the
financial statements.



In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:
e  Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we
identified during the audit.

LLBMC,PL

Brentwood, Tennessee
May 28, 2024



ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Balance Sheets

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in thousands)

Assets

Current assets: 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents S 12,745 S 12,147
Cash and escrow deposits - restricted 972 643
Accounts receivable, net 328 251
Other current assets 580 365
Total current assets 14,625 13,406
Restricted cash 10,813 10,304
Property and equipment, net 67,737 68,392
Total assets S 93,175 $ 92,102

Liabilities and Member's Equity

Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt, less deferred financing costs S 948 S 1,902
Accounts payable 801 914
Accrued expenses 1,049 961
Tenant deposits 92 90
Deferred revenue 190 211
Total current liabilities 3,080 4,078

Long-term debt, less current portion and deferred financing costs 58,856 86,015
Total liabilities 61,936 90,093

Member's equity 31,239 2,009
Total liabilities and member's equity S 93,175 $ 92,102

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Statements of Operations
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in thousands)

2023 2022
Revenue:
Resident fee revenue S 20,320 S 18,844
Other operating income 3 231
Total revenue, net 20,323 19,075
Operating expenses:
Community operating expense 14,238 14,150
Depreciation 3,660 3,767
Real estate tax 487 513
Management fee expense 1,016 942
Total operating expenses 19,401 19,372
Income (loss) from operations 922 (297)
Non operating expenses (income):
Non operating income - (23)
Interest expense, net:
Debt 4,954 3,929
Amortization of deferred financing costs 61 58
Interest income (1,020) (263)
Debt modification costs 202 -
Total non operating expenses 4,197 3,701
Net loss S (3,275) S (3,998)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Statements of Changes in Member's Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2022 S

Member contributions, net
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2022

Member contributions, net

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2023 S

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Member's Equity

1,168
4,839

(3,998)

2,009
32,505

(3,275)

31,239




ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
Debt modification costs
Depreciation
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Provision for (recoveries of) credit losses
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Other current assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities - purchases of property and
equipment

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from debt
Payment of financing costs
Contributions from member, net
Net cash provided by financing activities

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to the balance sheets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and escrow deposits - restricted
Restricted cash

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information - cash paid for interest

2023 2022
(3,275) (3,998)
202 -
3,660 3,767
61 58

(1) 23

(75) (54)
(215) 11
(45) 98
312 (95)
(3,005) (2,328)
(41,972) (1,843)
14,298 -
(702) -
32,505 4,839
4,129 2,996
1,436 573
23,094 22,521
24,530 23,094
12,745 12,147
972 643
10,813 10,304
24,530 23,094
5,013 3,724

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

(1)

()

Organization

ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence (the “Company”) is an operator of
a senior living community (the “Community”) in Charlotte, North Carolina, and is wholly-owned by
BKD FM Holding Company, LLC (the “Member”), which through American Retirement Corporation,
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. (“Brookdale”). The Company is
committed to providing senior living solutions through a property that is designed, purpose-built,
and operated to provide the highest quality service, care, and living accommodations for residents.
The Community offers a variety of living arrangements and services to accommodate all levels of
physical ability and health. The Community has 275 independent living units, 56 assisted living units,
34 memory care units, and 42 skilled nursing beds on one campus.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The significant accounting
policies have been summarized below.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Although these estimates are based
on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that the Company may undertake
in the future, actual results may be different from the estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Resident fee revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects
to receive in exchange for the services provided. These amounts are due from residents or third-
party payors and include variable consideration for retroactive adjustments from estimated
reimbursements, if any, under reimbursement programs. Performance obligations are determined
based on the nature of the services provided. Resident fee revenue is recognized as performance
obligations are satisfied.

Under the Company's senior living residency agreements, which are generally for a contractual term
of 30 days to one year, the Company provides senior living services to residents for a stated daily or
monthly fee. The Company has elected the lessor practical expedient within Financial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) ASC 842, Leases ("ASC 842") and
recognizes, measures, presents, and discloses the revenue for services under the Company's senior
living residency agreements based upon the predominant component, either the lease or nonlease
component, of the contracts. The Company has determined that the services included under the
Company's independent living, assisted living, and memory care residency agreements have the
same timing and pattern of transfer and are performance obligations that are satisfied over time.



ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

The Company recognizes revenue under ASC 606, Revenue Recognition from Contracts with
Customers ("ASC 606") for its independent living, assisted living, and memory care residency
agreements for which it has estimated that the nonlease components of such residency agreements
are the predominant component of the contract.

The Company receives payment for services under various third-party payor programs which include
Medicare, Medicaid, and other third-party payors. Estimates for settlements with third-party payors
for retroactive adjustments from estimated reimbursements due to audits, reviews, or investigations
are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for providing services. The
Company estimates the transaction price based on the terms of the contract with the payor,
correspondence with the payor, and historical payment trends. Changes to these estimates for
retroactive adjustments are recognized in the period the change or adjustment becomes known or
when final settlements are determined. Approximately 5% and 4% of the Company's resident
services revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, was attributable to
various third-party payor programs, including Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Government Grants

The Company recognizes income for government grants on a systematic and rational basis over the
periods in which the Company recognizes the related expenses or loss of revenue for which the grants
are intended to compensate when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with
the applicable terms and conditions of the grant and there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash is made up of the operating reserve fund required by the North Carolina Department
of Insurance (“DOI”) and debt service reserve accounts required by the Company’s lender under its

mortgage debt agreement.

Cash Management

The Company does not maintain operating cash accounts as all operating cash activities are
transacted by the Member and settled to the Company through net Member contributions on the
statements of changes in Member’s equity. Given the Company’s cash management and the
Member’s organizational structure, the Member intends to continue to fund Member contributions
to the Company as needed. The Company maintains an unrestricted cash account that is not used in
operations.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are reported net of an allowance for credit losses to represent the Company’s
estimate of expected losses at the balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
allowance for credit losses was $37 and $80, respectively. The adequacy of the Company's allowance
for credit losses is reviewed on an ongoing basis, using historical payment trends, write-off
experience, analyses of receivable portfolios by payor source and aging of receivables, a review of
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

specific accounts, as well as expected future economic conditions and market trends, and
adjustments are made to the allowance as necessary.

Billings for services under third-party payor programs are recorded net of estimated retroactive
adjustments, if any. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, approximately 12% and 16%, respectively, of
the Company’s accounts receivable was due from various third-party payor programs, including
Medicare and Medicaid.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which include leasehold intangibles, are recorded at cost or fair value on
the date of acquisition or contribution. The fair value of the contributed lease-related intangibles
associated with the relationship with the Community's residents reflects the estimated value of in-
place leases as represented by the cost to obtain residents and an estimated absorption period to
reflect the value of the rent and recovery costs foregone during a reasonable lease-up period as if
the space was vacant. The Community amortizes any acquired in-place lease intangibles to
depreciation and amortization expense over the average remaining length of stay of the residents.
Renovations and improvements, which improve and/or extend the useful life of the asset, are
capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful life of the renovations and improvements.
Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 3 -40years
Furniture and equipment 3-10vyears
Resident lease intangibles 1-2years

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an asset group
is assessed by comparing its carrying amount to the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset group through operation or disposition, calculated utilizing
the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. If this comparison indicates that the carrying amount of
an asset group is not recoverable, the Company is required to recognize an impairment loss. The
impairment loss is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
estimated fair value, with any amount in excess of fair value recognized as an expense in the current
period. Undiscounted cash flow projections and estimates of fair value amounts are based on a
number of assumptions such as revenue and expense growth rates, estimated holding periods, and
estimated capitalization rates.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs and fees incurred with third parties that directly relate to obtaining new long-term debt are
recorded as a direct adjustment to the carrying amount of long-term debt. The Company amortizes
deferred financing costs on a straight-line basis, which approximates the effective yield method over
the term of the related debt.



ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

(3)

(4)

Income Taxes

The Company is treated as a limited liability company for tax purposes. Generally, no provision for
federal and state income taxes has been recorded as payment of income taxes is the responsibility
of the individual member.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events subsequent to December 31, 2023 through the date the financial
statements were available to be issued, May 28, 2024, and determined that no events have occurred
which would require additional disclosure.

Government Grants

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognhized $3 and $231,
respectively, as other operating income from government grants and credits recognized related to
the pandemic based upon its estimates of its satisfaction of the conditions of the grants and credits
during such periods. The cash received for grants and credits has been presented within net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities within the Company's statements of cash flows.

Property and Equipment

Net property and equipment and leasehold intangibles as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consisted
of the following:

2023 2022
Land $  $10,890 $ 10,890
Buildings and improvements 92,312 91,391
Leasehold intangibles 2,456 2,456
Furniture and equipment 15,109 14,344
Construction in progress 2,499 1,180

123,266 120,261
Accumulated depreciation (55,529) (51,869)
Property and equipment, net S 67,737 S 68,392

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company evaluated property and equipment
for impairment and no charge was recorded.

The Company entered into a contractual commitment with a third party vendor to complete certain

capital expenditures at the Community. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has $194 of
contractual commitments remaining related to this project.
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

(5)

(6)

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following components:

2023 2022
Accrued salaries and wages S 487 S 267
Accrued vacation 88 84
Accrued interest 325 399
Other accrued expenses 149 211
S 1,049 S 961

Long-Term Debt

In August 2017, the Company obtained $95.8 million of mortgage financing secured by the
Community. As of December 31, 2022, sixty percent of the principal amount bore interest at a fixed
rate, with one half of such amount bearing interest at 4.43% and maturing in September 2024 and
the other one half bearing interest at 4.47% and maturing in September 2027. Forty percent of the
principal amount bore interest at a variable rate equal to the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate
("LIBOR") plus a margin of 241.5 basis points and matures in 2027. The interest rate of the variable
rate portion of the loan at December 31, 2022 was 6.56%. The Company's variable rate mortgage
note payable was modified to reference the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) rather than
LIBOR prospectively after the discontinuance of LIBOR in July 2023. The Company applied the
optional expedient provided by ASC 848, Reference Rate Reform, for debt contract modifications
related to the discontinuation of reference rates to ease the potential burden in accounting for
reference rate reform.

In December 2023, the Company obtained a $14.3 million loan under the mortgage facility secured
by the Community. At the December 2023 closing, the Company repaid $40.1 million of debt under
the mortgage facility, using proceeds from the $14.3 million loan and cash contributions from the
Member. As of December 31, 2023, $60.5 million of mortgage debt remains outstanding under the
mortgage facility. Approximately sixty percent of the principal amount bears interest at a fixed rate,
with approximately sixty percent of such amount bearing interest at 4.47% and maturing in
September 2027 and the other forty percent bearing interest at 5.97% and maturing in January 2031.
Approximately forty percent of the principal amount bears interest at a variable rate equal to the 30-
day Average SOFR plus a margin of 252.9 basis points and matures in September 2027. The interest
rate of the variable rate portion of the loan at December 31, 2023 was 7.76%.

Deferred financing costs related to the loans are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of
the loan, which approximates the effective interest method. Amortization expense for deferred
financing costs which is recorded within interest expense in the accompanying statements of
operations was $61 and $58 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
annual aggregate scheduled principal payments of long-term debt obligations outstanding as of
December 31, 2023, are as follows:
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Years ending December 31, Amount

2024 $ 1,077
2025 1,102
2026 1,277
2027 43,089
2028 182
Thereafter 13,790
Total 60,517
Less deferred financing costs (713)
Total long-term debt $ 59,804

As of December 31, 2023, management believes that the Company was in compliance with the
financial covenants of its outstanding debt.

Related-Party Transactions

Management Agreement

On April 1, 2007, the Company entered into a long-term management agreement with ARC
Management, LLC (“ARC”), a related party. Subject to the terms of the agreement, ARC will receive a
management fee equal to 5% of gross revenues plus incentives fees as defined in the agreement.
Furthermore, out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred on behalf of the Company by ARC are
subject to reimbursement to ARC. The management contract extends through 2032 and may
continue on a month-to-month basis thereafter. The amount incurred for management fees was
$1,016 and $942 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Credit Risk

The Company generally maintains cash on deposit at banks in excess of federally insured amounts.
The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and management believes the
Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk related to cash.

Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation
The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.

Insurance

Through Brookdale, a related party, the Company currently maintains professional and general
liability insurance. Brookdale’s current policies provide for deductibles for each and every claim and
as a result they are, in effect, self-insured for claims that are less than the deductible amounts. In
addition, the Company participates in Brookdale’s large-deductible workers compensation program
and a self-insured employee medical program. Estimated costs related to the self-insured program
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

are accrued at Brookdale based on known claims and projected settlement of claims incurred but not
reported to the Company. The Company records an allocated monthly fee for insurance costs.
Subsequent changes in actual experience (including claim costs, claim frequency, and other factors)
could result in additional costs to the Company.

Health Care Requlations

The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of Federal, state, and local
governments. These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited to, matters such as
licensure, accreditation, government health care program participation requirements,
reimbursement for patient services, and Medicare and Medicaid, or other state programs, fraud and
abuse. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in expulsion from government health
care programs together with the imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant
repayments for patient services previously billed. Management believes that the Company is in
compliance with fraud and abuse statutes as well as other applicable government laws and
regulations. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review
and interpretation as well as regulatory actions unknown or unasserted at this time.

As a result of the Company’s participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, the Company is
subject to various government reviews, audits and investigations to verify the Company’s compliance
with these programs and applicable laws and regulations. CMS has engaged a number of third party
firms, including Recovery Audit Contractors (“RAC”), Zone Program Integrity Contractors (“ZPIC"),
and Unified Program Integrity Contractors (“UPIC”) to conduct extensive reviews of claims data to
evaluate the appropriateness of billings submitted for payment. Audit contractors may identify
overpayments based on coverage requirements, billing and coding rules or other risk areas. In
addition to identifying overpayments, audit contractors can refer suspected violations of law to
government enforcement authorities. An adverse determination of government reviews, audits and
investigations may result in citations, sanctions and other criminal or civil fines and penalties, the
refund of overpayments, payment suspensions, or termination of participation in Medicare and
Medicaid programs. The Company’s costs to respond to and defend any such audits, reviews and
investigations may be significant and are likely to increase in the current enforcement environment,
and any resulting sanctions or criminal, civil or regulatory penalties could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. While
management believes all billings are proper and support is maintained, certain aspects of billing,
coding and support are subject to interpretation and may be viewed differently by audit contractors.
As amount of any recovery is unknown, management has not recorded any reserves related to audits
and investigations at this time.

Operating Reserve Fund

The North Carolina DOI under Article 64 requires that CCRCs establish an Operating Reserve Fund in
the form of cash, investments, or other assets as permitted by the DOI, consisting of 50% of the
following year’s forecasted operating expenses until they achieve a 90% occupancy level, at which
time they are required to establish an Operating Reserve Fund consisting of 25% of the following
year’s forecasted operating expenses, which has been achieved in the past. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, the Company did not achieve the 90% occupancy level and the Operating Reserve Fund is
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ARCLP - Charlotte, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Carriage Club Providence
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands except as where otherwise stated)

funded at 50% of the forecasted operating costs, less certain deductions as defined by law and the
Insurance Commissioner, for a 12-month period as of the date of this report.

The Company’s assumed Operating Reserve Fund amounts for each year during the forecasted period
are based on projected occupancy rates below 90%, indicating an Operating Reserve Fund equal to
50% of the forecasted annual operating expenses adjusted to include principal payments on long-
term debt, less depreciation. Contributions from its Member may occur to fund the Company’s
Operating Reserve Fund requirements, to make debt payments on the Company’s outstanding
amounts including final maturity payments, and to fund operations as needed.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s reserve balance was $10.8 million and $10.3
million, respectively.
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BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE
Balance Sheet
As of April 30, 2024
(amounts in 000's)

Assets

Cash - restricted

Cash - unrestricted
Accounts receivable, net
Other current assets

Total current assets

Land

Buildings and improvements
Furniture and equipment
Construction in Progress
Gross PPE

Accumulated depreciation
Net PPE

Restricted Cash--LT
Total Assets

Liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Tenant deposits

Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt

Other Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

1,188,081
12,970,177
364,315
355,967

14,878,540

10,890,000
92,629,131
17,747,458

2,731,754

123,998,343
(56,765,249)

67,233,094

10,965,794

93,077,428

955,620
567,257
605,035

64,641
237,154

2,429,707

58,534,118

60,963,825

32,113,603

93,077,428




BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE
Income Statement

For the four months ended April 30, 2024
(amounts in 000's)

REVENUES
Independent living
Second Party Rents
Assisted living
Memory Enhancement
Nursing care

Other Incomes

Total Operating Revenues

Other operating income

Total Revenue

EXPENSES

Ancillary Expenses
Administration & General
Nursing

Memory Enhancement
Assisted Living

Plant Operations/Maintenance
Utility

Housekeeping & Laundry
Resident Services

Food Service

Marketing

General Insurance
Worker's Compensation
Depreciation & Amortization
Interest Expense

Property Tax

Total Operating Expenses

Non-Operating (Income) Loss

Management fee expense

Net Income

4,093,025
196,714
731,737
742,105

1,133,987
738,708

7,636,276

7,636,276

284,212
1,013,494
669,701
297,808
280,423
512,563
252,124
160,530
198,853
911,341
372,158
184,430
24,517
1,278,947
1,271,688
149,150

7,861,939

(368,140)

142,477




BROOKDALE CARRIAGE CLUB PROVIDENCE
Statement of Cash Flows
For the four months ended April 30, 2024
(amounts in 000's)

Net Income 142,477

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided:

Loss on extinguishment of debt 10,466
Depreciation 1,235,921
Amortization of deferred financing costs 43,026
Provision for credit losses 19,633

Changes in operating assets

Accounts receivable (258,703)
Other assets 224,032
Accounts payable (233,731)
Accrued expenses (444,131)
Tenant deposits and other restricted liabilities (26,917)
Deferred revenue 46,903
Net cash provided by operating activities 758,977

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment (731,858)

Net cash used in investing activities (731,858)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of long-term debt (356,503)
Payment of financing costs (10,466)
Member distributions, net 765,357
Net cash provided by financing activities 398,388
Increase (decrease) in cash 425,508
Beginning cash balance 24,698,544

Ending cash balance 25,124,052
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